INSTITUTE FOR CANCER RESEARCH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

EICA MZ 125



TAN 1.0x

PLAN L





EDITORIAL STAFF: Kjetil Taskén Harald A. Stenmark Peter Wiedswang

PHOTOGRAPHY: Terje Heiestad The photographic theme of this year's

FRONT PAGE: New group leader Tor Erik Rusten had great success in 2017 with papers

MICROSCOPY IMAGES OF CELLS Microscopy images of cells by

PAPER: 150/300 Profimatt

CONTENTS

- **INTRODUCTION BY THE ACTING DIRECTOR** 4
- INSTITUTE FOR CANCER RESEARCH INTO THE FUTURE 6
- **ORGANISATION AND KEY FIGURES** 8
- 12 OSLO UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL COMPREHENSIVE CANCER CENTRE

14 DEPARTMENTS AND RESEARCH GROUPS

- CANCER GENETICS 16
- 22 CANCER IMMUNOLOGY
- 28 MOLECULAR CELL BIOLOGY
- 36 MOLECULAR ONCOLOGY
- 42 RADIATION BIOLOGY
- 48 TUMOR BIOLOGY
- 54 CORE FACILITIES

58 RESEARCH CENTRES

- CENTRE OF EXCELLENCE 60
- 62 K. G. JEBSEN CENTRES
- 66 NORWEGIAN CANCER GENOMICS CONSORTIUM

68 INTERNATIONAL COLLABORATION

- 70 RECENT INNOVATIONS
- 73 PUBLICATIONS

INSTITUTE FOR CANCER RESEARCH | ANNUAL REPORT 2017 3

INTRODUCTION BY THE ACTING DIRECTOR

In 2017, Institute for Cancer Research (ICR) has continued its progress as one of Europe's strongest cancer research institutions. The accreditation of the Division of Cancer Medicine as a Comprehensive Cancer Centre (CCC), as highlighted in this report, is a new boost for research at ICR and is also a quality mark of ICR as the major contributor of research in the Division of Cancer Medicine.

Among research highlights, the newly established research group on tumour-host biology, headed by Tor Erik Rusten, published a particularly remarkable finding in 2017. This group showed that tumours turn on cellular self-eating, autophagy, in their microenvironment, and that this generates amino acids that fuel further tumour growth. The group's finding that genetic or pharmacological inhibition of autophagy in the tumour microenvironment causes tumours to shrink opens up novel therapeutic strategies. This paper, which was published in *Nature*, attracted considerable attention, including commentary articles in three major international research journals and coverage by national TV news. In addition to this finding, several other research discoveries made at ICR represented major scientific advances and represent good news for future cancer patients, as exemplified elsewhere in this report.

About 2/3 of ICR's funding comes from external grants, and ICR scientists have been able to obtain substantial new funding. Both Karl-Henrik Malmberg and Tor Erik Rusten obtained the very prestigious 5-year "Toppforsk" grant from the Research Council and the University of Oslo, which will profoundly stimulate their research on cell-based immunotherapy and tumour-host interactions, respectively. ICR scientists also secured major grants from the Norwegian Cancer Society, the Research Council of Norway, and the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority. Although ICR researchers have also succeeded in obtaining international grants, ICR still has great potential for improvement, and hopefully the new CCC status will facilitate participation in Horizon-2020 and other large international projects.

After Anne-Lise Børresen retired as head of Department of Cancer Genetics, Gry Aarum Geitvik has done a very good job as acting head of department. It was nevertheless important to hire a permanent head of this department, which has a central role in ICR's translational research programme. With Therese Sørlie as new head of department, the Department of Cancer Genetics has got a leader with strong research background in breast cancer genetics and considerable experience with research leadership. In the Department of Tumour Biology, Jørgen Wesche has been hired as leader of the group on Molecular Biology of Sarcomas. Jørgen, with experience in studies of fibroblast growth factor signalling, will benefit from the strong sarcoma research programme that has already been established at this department.

ICR's strong standing in Norwegian research is illustrated by the fact that the institute has been host for a Centre of Excellence (CoE) and two K.G.Jebsen Centres in 2017. The CoE, Centre for Cancer Biomedicine (CCB), closed in August 2017 after a 10-year run as one of Norway's most successful CoEs. However, the director of CCB, Harald Stenmark, will lead a new CoE, Centre for Cancer Cell Reprogramming (CanCell), with three ICR group leaders joining as principal investigators - Jorrit Enserink, Tor Erik Rusten, and Jørgen Wesche. In addition, two other ICR group leaders, Eivind Hovig and Åslaug Helland, are associate members of the new CoE. Both the two K.G. Jebsen centres, the one for Cancer Immunotherapy (led by Johanna Olweus) and the one for Colorectal Cancer Research (led by Ragnhild A. Lothe) have been granted prolongation. In addition, a new K.G. Jebsen Centre for B Cell Malignancies has strong participation from ICR, including June Myklebust (deputy centre director), Erlend B. Smeland and Kjetil Taskén. This means that, in 2018, ICR will host as many as 3 KG Jebsen centres in addition to a CoE, which is exeptional among Norwegian research institutes.

A new permanent director of ICR has been appointed from January 2018, Kjetil Taskén. With administrative experience as director of the Biotechnology Centre of Oslo and the Norwegian Centre for Molecular Medicine, and scientific background as one of Norway's leading cancer researchers, Kjetil is very well qualified for directing ICR. As acting director of ICR for the last year, I wish Kjetil good luck with his vision of developing ICR further as a world-leading cancer research institute.

Harald Stenmark





CANCER RESEARCH OF INTERNATIONAL EXCELLENCE

THE INSTITUTE FOR CANCER RESEARCH - FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENT

It is with a great deal of humility and respect that I come to the position as Head and Director of the Institute of Cancer Research (ICR) at Oslo University Hospital (OUH) from January 2018.

The ICR is an institution with more than 300 employees and some 25 research groups as well as a complement of cutting-edge core facilities. The ICR is the foremost institution in basic and translational cancer research on a national arena and a well-renowned institution on an international arena. Its research production is truly excellent both in volume and quality of the output. The ICR also has a strong prior track record in translational research and innovation.

Leading the ICR is, in my view, going to be about maintaining the excellent science and outstanding production while at the same time facilitating further building of excellence and organising more collaborative efforts both inside the institute, across the hospital and university and regionally, nationally and internationally to deal with grand challenges in cancer medicine and to position the ICR in national and international alliances and consortia. The ICR should be a key element in building the OUH Comprehensive Cancer Centre (CCC), feed results into a translational research path and continue to have **patient benefit** in mind in all aspects of research and innovation. As the foremost national institution in cancer research the ICR should, to meet the needs of its owners and take national responsibility, have research and expertise on all major cancers and explore current and cutting-edge strategies for diagnosing and treating cancer.

The most important part of ICR is by far its human resources. Making the ICR continue to succeed is also about maintaining the competence and excellence represented by its current staff, developing and training excellent researchers at all levels and to provide good and predictable career development programs for younger researchers in order to secure internal recruitment. At the same time, the ICR should, in my view, aim also to have international recruitment programs at all levels including PI positions and develop a truly international environment in order to attract top talent also on an international arena.

With respect to the leadership strategy looking forward I envision that a truly open, conductive and interactive milieu should be the future hallmark of ICR. *Open* in the sense that it should encourage influx of new ideas, new methodology, new approaches; *Conductive* in the sense that the atmosphere should be welcoming, friendly and helpful; *Interactive* in the sense that collaborations are encouraged, experts from different fields meet and discuss on a regular basis and true inter-disciplinary collaborations are formed, national and international resources are used, international networks are established, and interactions with pharmaceutical companies are ongoing. These are activities that I would want to encourage and establish.

The values I have come to cherish as part of my leadership philosophy are: *courage* to strive to become excellent, *joy* of working together and with *generosity* to share. I have during my past tenure and service as a research director over the past 20 years aimed to establish an atmosphere where these values are held forward and have experienced that to work.

On this background, ambitions and a forward plan for both continued operation and development of the ICR should, in my view, include the following elements:

- Maintain and develop excellence.
- Continue to develop competitive edge and international standing as well as visibility.
- Increase translational activities.
- Increase collaboration inside OUH-CCC and to UiO, nationally and internationally in transdisciplinary activities.
- Develop strategies to continuously maintain and increase funding base.

To be able to succeed with such a strategy, I think the ICR needs to work interactively to form a matrix organisation with disease working groups, focus on developing complementarity, collaboration and cohesion, establish good training and career paths as well as good methods for benchmarking, internally, through the SAB and on competitive arenas. Furthermore, the implications of the ICR being the foremost institution in basic and translational cancer research in Norway is, in my view, that not only should the ICR excel in research, but it should also excel in innovation, education and training, career development, research ethics, compliance with legislation and regulations, health, environment and safety, dissemination and visibility and in setting standards. Moreover, the ICR as a premier institution on a national and international arena, should be a source of new strategies in cancer research, take lead on a national arena, and take its rightful place in all strategic processes in Norway and internationally on a European area and beyond. And the ICR should take its rightful proportion of research grants on a national and international arena.

The ICR will only achieve its goals if everybody on board joins forces. I look forward to working with all the ICR staff and with the wider environment of outstanding collaborators to reach for the vision and goals of the ICR and OUH.

March, 2018, Kjetil Taskén, incoming Head of the ICR



WITH PATIENT BENEFIT IN MIND IN ALL ASPECTS OF RESEARCH AND INNOVATION



THE INSTITUTE FOR CANCER RESEARCH

Institute for Cancer Research is organized in 6 research departments with 24 research groups, and one Department of Core Facilities.



KEY FIGURES 2017



FUNDING

Actual Institute expenditure for 2017 by internal and external funding sources (total 301,1 MNOK = approx. 31,1 M€)





Percent

EMPLOYEES



COMPLETED PHDS AND MASTER DEGREES



EXTERNAL FUNDING BY SOURCE

Sources of external competitive funding for 2017, based on actual expenditure (total 206 MNOK= approx. 21,3 M€)

- South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority
- The Research Council of Norway
- The Norwegian Cancer Society
- University of Oslo
- Other private sources
- International sources



5

Median 4.4

ARTICLES PUBLISHED

4.3

OSLO UNIVERSITY Hospital comprehensive Cancer centre

In April of 2017 the Oslo University Hospital (OUH) Cancer Centre was designated by the Organisation of European Cancer Institutes (OECI) as a Europeanlevel Comprehensive Cancer Centre (CCC). The accreditation is based on documented high volume and quality in clinical cancer care, with integration of high level cancer research and innovation and following a rigorous review and audit of both cancer care, the cancer care organisation and cancer research at OUH.

The accreditation means that the OECI considers that the OUH CCC performs at a level with premier national institutions across Europe in the cancer field. In this process OUH has made necessary adjustments to both its clinical and research organisations, with the aim of integrating all cancer-related activities in a common cancer centre structure. The process included the elaboration of an institutional cancer strategy with an incorporated research strategy. The Board of the OUH CCC encompasses the Division for Cancer Medicine with its Departments of Oncology, Hematology, Gynecological Cancer and the Institute of Cancer Research, The Division for Surgergy, Inflammation and Transplantation with its Departments of Gastrosurgery and Urology, The Division for Radiology and Nuclear Medicine and the Division for Laboratory Medicine with the Department of Pathology and more. The CCC board is set up to reinforce the Divisional Directors and Department Heads' executive power across the organisation and OUH localities to forge coordination and collaboration with operations and strategy for diagnostics and treatment, care, follow-up and research.

OUH and its Division for Cancer Medicine are truly proud of the OECI-CCC accreditation and will continue to develop the OUH CCC as a premier cancer centre on a European arena.

Sigbjørn Smeland Head of Division of Cancer Medicine, Chair, OUH CCC Board Gunnar Sæter Research Director, Division of Cancer Medicine Head, OUH CCC Research Committee



Comprehensive Cancer Centre





DEPARTMENTS AND RESEARCH GROUPS

DEPARTMENT OF CANCER GENETICS DEPARTMENT OF CANCER IMMUNOLOGY DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR CELL BIOLOGY DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR ONCOLOGY DEPARTMENT OF RADIATION BIOLOGY DEPARTMENT OF TUMOR BIOLOGY DEPARTMENT OF CORE FACILITIES

16

22

28

36

42

48

54

OUR MISSION IS TO IMPROVE THE LIVES OF CANCER PATIENTS WITH SOLID TUMORS BY PERFORMING TRANSLATIONAL RESEARCH

OUR GOALS ARE:

ULLEVAL

• improve risk estimation

DEPARTMENT OF

CANCER

GENETICS

- achieve earlier diagnosis
- improved prediction of treatment response, and improve prognosis for patients with early and advanced stages of breast, lung, pancreatic and ovarian cancer.

Our research focus is on molecular classification, data integration, pan-cancer analyses and translation to clinic. A common theme across groups is to achieve deeper molecular understanding of inter- and intra-tumor heterogeneity and tumor evolution using human tumor cohorts and mouse models. We are an interdisciplinary team of 54 members with MDs, molecular biologists, bioinformaticians and highly educated engineers organized in 4 research groups and one lab-technology unit. The lab technology unit enhances the department's skills of "state of the art" technology and improves exchange of knowledge across research groups and cancer types. This is a key asset leading to increased quality of the department's laboratory work and project management.

We have established a pipeline for high-quality biobanking (>200 000 vials) and data handling of patient cohorts with long-term follow-up and perform multilevel molecular characterization of tumors down to single cell levels. Our database consists of > 3000 patients with analyses at 2-6 molecular levels, and includes samples from, among others, the following trials:



HEADED BY: THERESE SØRLIE ACTING HEAD IN 2017: GRY AARUM GEITVIK

- MetAction Actionable targets in cancer metastasis.
- NeoAva Neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer with/without bevacizumab.
- IBCT Improved Breast Cancer Therapy in the neoadjuvant and metastatic setting
- EMIT -Establishment of Molecular profiling for Individual Treatment decisions in Early BC; threephase study including randomized and observational clinical trials.
- TREM Lung cancer patients with EGFR mutations and primary TKI-resistance
- ThoRaT Lung cancer patients receiving radiotherapy
- NorPACT-1 and 2 Neo-adjuvant chemotherapy for pancreatic cancer

We have extensive institutional, national and international collaborations and are partners in several networks and consortia; the Regional Network for Breast Cancer Research, the Regional Research Network on Extracellular Vesicles (RRNEV), Personalized Cancer Treatment and Metaflammation, International Cancer Genome Consortium (ICGC), EuroPDX, the Breast Cancer Association Consortium (BCAC); EU funded projects (EpiMark, Cancer-ID). We host The National Competence Center for Lung Cancer. The total number of peer reviewed publications in 2017 was 72.

DEPARTMENT OF CANCER GENETICS

BREAST TUMOR INITIATION



GROUP LEADER: THERESE SØRLIE

TRANSLATIONAL Studies in solid Tumours



UNDERSTANDING CELL FATE DECISIONS IN TUMOR PROGRESSION

ABOUT

The group counts 12 members (two men, 10 women) including the group leader (TS), one senior researcher and project leader, Silje Nord, one scientist, four postdocs, two PhD students, one MD-PhD student, one master student and two engineers. Two members are MD and one is DVM. Sorlie is head of Department since 1. Oct 2017, professor at University of Oslo, Medical Faculty and adjunct professor at CCBIO, University of Bergen. Our group studies molecular aspects of breast tumor initiation and progression including the functional effect of known risk variants, cell of origin of molecular subtypes and the specific pathways and processes that are deregulated and lead to invasion. We have a broad expertise in laboratory technologies which include high-throughput genomic technologies, in vivo lineagetracing, 2D and 3D in vitro culture techniques, in situ hybridization, confocal microscopy, and FACS analysis. We use patient cohorts and mouse models (transgenic and patient derived xenograft - PDX) in our studies. We also have expertise in bioinformatic and statistical methods and modeling.

AIMS

Our aim is to identify the cellular origins of breast tumors and the mechanisms behind tumor initiation and further development into the heterogeneous molecular subtypes. Through an increased understanding of how early lesions progress to more advances stages, we aim to contribute to improved strategies for early intervention and more precise treatment.

PROJECTS

- Characterize the functional effect of breast cancer risk variants
- Characterize subtype-specific progression pathways of pre-invasive lesions in the breast
- Investigate the role of Hedgehog/GL11 signaling in breast cancer progression
- Explore the tumorigenic potential of LGR5 expressing cells in the mammary gland
- Drivers of the BRCAness phenotype in basal-like tumors
- Investigate the role of FOXA1 in endocrine resistant breast cancer

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

- 9 publications in 2017
- One completed Master thesis
- OUS award for excellent publication
- Sørlie researcher of the month, December, Helse Sør-Øst

WITH STARTING POINT IN CLINICAL STUDIES AND CLINICAL QUESTIONS, WE DO MOLECULAR ANALYSES AIMING AT IMPROVING OUTCOME FOR CANCER PATIENTS

ABOUT

Our group focuses on translational studies on solid tumours, with a special interest in pancreatic, lung, ovary and colorectal cancers. We do whole genome analyses on patient material, aiming at identifying predictive and prognostic biomarkers. We are analysing mRNA, miRNA, DNA, methylation, glycosylation, mutations and proteins. By increasing the understanding of the underlying biology of tumour development, we aim at improving cancer patient care. We also study therapy resistance. Several of our projects include material from patients included in clinical studies, and we have clinical and follow-up data from all patients. The group has two project groups (headed by Elin Kure and Odd Terje Brustugun), with a total of 18 members (12 women). Nine of these 18 are MDs, and India and Great Britain are represented in addition to Norway. We are three researchers, three postdocs, eight PhD-students, one master student, one study nurse and two engineers.

AIMS

The ultimate goal is to personalise cancer treatment, and improve prognosis. We aim for:

- Identification of biomarkers in blood samples, for diagnostics, follow-up and prognostication
- Identification of tumour biomarkers for prediction of therapy response and for prognostication



GROUP LEADER: ÅSLAUG HELLAND

PROJECTS

- Molecular characterisation of lung squamous cell carcinomas
- Molecular characterisation of pancreatic cancers
- MiRNA in ovarian cancer
- Improving radiotherapy in lung cancer
- Identification of biomarkers in colorectal cancers
- Protein (TMA) analyses in lung cancers
- Genome-wide detection of diagnostic plasma miRNAs in pancreatic cancer
- Exosome profiles of proteins and miRNAs in plasma of pancreatic cancer patients
- Serum N-glycans as prognostics markers in pancreatic and colorectal cancers
- Serum predictive markers for therapy response
- Elucidate mechanisms for therapy resistance

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

In 2017, the group was involved in several EUapplications and published 18 papers in peer-review journals. We have had several talks at national and international meetings, and are PIs on >20 translational and clinical studies. We received approximately 22 mill NOK in research funding (Elin Kure 9 mill, Odd Terje Brustugun 5 mill, Åslaug Helland 8 mill).

DEPARTMENT OF CANCER GENETICS

CANCER GENOME VARIATION



GROUP LEADER: VESSELA N. KRISTENSEN

MOLECULAR Biology of Breast cancer

GERM-LINE AND SOMATIC GENETIC AND EPIGENETIC VARIANTS IN CANCER AND PHARMACOGENOMICS

ABOUT

The group at ICR consists of 4 postdocs, 1 PhD student, 1 MSc student, 2 research technologists and 1 ERASMUS student in 2017. Two other postdocs are shared with other groups at the Department and Institute. Vessela Kristensen is a professor I at the Faculty of Medicine, UiO, and works towards intensive and fruitful collaboration between ICR and University of Oslo, where she also leads a group of 3 postdocs, 2 PhD students, 1 MSc and 1 research technologist. Group members work closely together and in collaboration with breast clinicians, pathologists and oncologists.

AIMS

The Cancer Genome Variation group is working to understand how genetic variation affects occurrence of somatic alterations, gene expression patterns and genome wide copy number alterations in human tumours http://ous-research.no/kristensen/

PROJECTS

Together with our collaborative network we received several grants in 2017: from the Norwegian Cancer Society (The genetic make-up of breast cancer), Pink Ribbon (Hereditary breast cancer), Convergence grant from UiO-Life Science (Personalised Patient Care, PerCaThe) and we are member of the TRANSCAN EpiMark EU network. Projects include:

- Genome variation: In the breast cancer association consortium we identified 65 new breast cancer risk loci (published in *Nature*) and ten variants with risk of ER-negative breast cancer (*Nature Genetics*) as highlighted in CNN and other media world-wide.
- DNA methylation at enhancers was identified in distinct breast cancer lineages (Published in *Nature communications*) and distinct subgroups of luminal A (published in *Oncotarget*.)
- **Data integration:** Integrative clustering revealed a novel split in the luminal A subtype of breast cancer with impact on outcome (published in *Breast Cancer Res*)
- Non-canonical transcriptomes: Wide-spread alternative exon usage was identified in clinically distinct subtypes of BC (published in Scientific Reports)
- **Immune signaling:** Bioinformatic approaches to profile the tumor microenvironment in association with disease progression, ER activity, genomic complexity and age (Publications in Oncolmmunology, highlight in New England J Medicine and others).

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

Publication activity. 17 publications in 2017, 2 book chapters.

EXPLORING INTER- AND INTRA-TUMOR HETEROGENEITY AT VARIOUS MOLECULAR LEVELS AND PERFORMING INTEGRATED ANALYSES TO DEVELOP PROGNOSTIC AND PREDICTIVE SIGNATURES FOR BREAST CANCER

ABOUT

The group is organized into three project groups (headed by Anita Langerød, Kristine Kleivi Sahlberg and Hege Russnes) with a total of 4 scientists, 5 postdocs, 2 research engineers and one MD-PhD student in 2017. In addition, 1 oncologist, 1 study nurse and 1 professor in bioinformatics (UiO) are associated with the group (parttime).

Focus of the group is to reach a more fundamental understanding of the biological dynamics of breast cancer through high-throughput molecular analyses of DNA, mRNA, miRNA and protein.

As partners in several clinic trials we perform "state of the art" analyses of patient material, both on bulk tumors, single cells and liquid biopsies, at various stages of the disease. In July 2016 the former group leader, Prof. emerita Anne- Lise Børresen-Dale retired and project group leader Hege G. Russnes has been acting as Head of the group thereafter. Hege G. Russnes is in addition senior consultant in Pathology at Dept. of Pathology, OUS and is also appointed as "Young Associated Investigator" at NCMM (Centre for Molecular Medicine Norway).

AIMS

Our group aims at defining, refining and implementing molecular classification and biomarker analyses to improve stratification of breast cancer patients into



GROUP LEADER: HEGE G. RUSSNES

treatment relevant groups. We are addressing the impact of inter- and intra-tumor heterogeneity as well as host response on disease progression, response to therapy and patient outcome.

PROJECTS

- Somatic Genetics of Breast Cancer, from single genes to whole genome sequencing
- Single-level and multi-level data analyses of DNA/ RNA/protein/metabolic alterations of primary tumors and metastases at various stages of the disease to improve classification of breast cancer
- Intra tumor heterogeneity
- Cell-free tumor DNA in blood
- Genomic and functional analysis of therapeutic targets in breast cancer
- Functional screens elucidating the role of miRNA's
- Glycans and miRNA as serum biomarkers

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

- 28 original publications in 2017
- Prof. emerita Anne-Lise Børresen-Dale received several honours in 2017:
- Appointed Commander of the Royal Norwegian St. Olav's Order
- Recipient of the AACR-Women in Cancer Research Charlotte Friend Memorial Lectureship in 2017



DEPARTMENT OF CANCER IMMUNOLOGY

ABOUT:

The Department of Cancer Immunology (DCI) consists of five research groups (Olweus, Myklebust/Smeland, Sioud, Malmberg and Taskén (joined in 2018)) and one project group (Kyte). Four of the group leaders are full professors at the University of Oslo. Groups at the DCI are partners of three K.G. Jebsen Centers (Cancer Immunotherapy, Inflammation Research and B-cell malignancies) and several EU-funded research programs in cancer immunotherapy. The groups provide complementary and cross-fertilizing expertize in molecular and cellular immunology, including a broad experimental tool-box for antigen discovery and studies of immune cells at the single cell level. Research at the department aims at deciphering the molecular regulation of key cellular components of the innate and adaptive immune system, including dendritic cells (DC), B cells, T cells, regulatory T cells (Treg) and NK cells. The key driving force in all these efforts is to develop better tools for cancer diagnostics and new therapeutic strategies. The latter include investigator-initiated clinical trials to alleviate immune suppression and improve the use of check-point inhibition, and the design of gene-edited T- and NK cells for adoptive cell therapy.

PROJECTS:

- Lymphocyte biology, by deciphering

 ontogeny and function of B, T and NK cells
- tumor heterogeneity (signaling and mutanome)
- immune cell recognition elements (antigen discovery)



HEADED BY: JOHANNA OLWEUS

- Biomarkers, by profiling of
- lymphocyte repertoires
- the tumor and its microenvironment
- T-cell receptors and humoral immunity
- Therapeutics, by
- genetically engineered T and NK cells
- immune priming with siRNA and antigen-targeting to DC
- genetically engineered peptibodies
- cell therapy across HLA barriers to overcome immune tolerance
- clinical trials using experimental immunotherapy

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS (2017)

- In 2017, 15 publications were published, of which 10 with first/last authors from DCI, with mean IF of 10.3.
- Two DOFIs and two patent applications were filed.
- Three PhD degrees.
- Signed a license agreement and entered into a 2-year research agreement with Fate Therapeutics Inc. concerning the development of a universal iPS-derived NK cell platform for cancer immunotherapy.
- Signed a 2-year research agreement with Kite Pharma to use in-house developed technology for identification of therapeutic T-cell receptors
- Launched a clinical trial Lymvac II as co-PI (Arne Kolstad main PI) in collaboration with Merck.
- Awarded Mørks Legat's research prize.

DEPARTMENT OF CANCER IMMUNOLOGY

EXPERIMENTAL IMMUNOTHERAPY



GROUP | FADER: JOHANNA OLWEUS

NK CELL BIOLOGY AND CELL THERAPY

OUR FOCUS IS TO DEVELOP NEW STRATEGIES FOR T-CELL BASED IMMUNOTHERAPY

ABOUT:

The group counts 13 members (67% women); 1 full professor (JO), 5 postdocs, 4 PhD students and 2.5 engineers, and two associated clinicians. Three members have MD background. Ten members are recruited from abroad. The group is partner of two K.G. Jebsen Centers (2013-); "Cancer Immunotherapy (JCIT)" and "Inflammation Research (JIRC)", respectively. Olweus is Director of JCIT, which was awarded maximal prolongation in 2016 (two years), till 2020.

AIMS

To find new immunotherapeutic T-cell based strategies that overcome the major challenge of self-tolerance in cancer, and couple clinical trials with penetrating mechanistic analyses. Two principally distinct approaches are pursued in an interdisciplinary and translational program:

Strategy 1: Use of T cell-based alloreactivity to target selfantigens.

Strategy 2: Identification and targeting of cancer-specific neo-antigens.

PROJECTS

Strategy 1

 Identify cell-type specific T-cell epitopes from selfantigens and T-cell receptors reactive with such epitopes for future genetic transfer in adoptive cellular therapy (Nat Biotechnol 2017)

Strategy 2

- · Target neo-antigens neglected by patients (Front Immunol 2017)
- · Profile T-cell receptors as a tool to identify T-cell reactivities (J Hepatol 2017)
- · Identify neo-antigens and reactive T cells in biobanked material from patients responding to immunotherapy (Lvmvac I and II trials)
- · Identify auto-antibody targets by protein arrays and T cell biology in autoimmune disease (CVID) (J Autoimmun 2017, Clin Immunol 2017)

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

(2017-): The group published 5 articles and two PhD students graduated. Olweus and Inven2 signed a research agreement with biotech company Kite Pharma (acquired by Gilead for 12bUSD) on development of T-cell receptors to target cancer. Olweus was invited speaker at a large number of international conferences, including Keystone Symposium "Lymphocytes and their roles in cancer".



ABOUT

The Malmberg Lab counts 16 members (F/M: 6/10); 1 full professor (KJM), 2 scientists, 1 project manager, 3 postdocs, 7 PhD students, 2 engineers. Malmberg is a visiting Professor at the Karolinska Institutet (KI) and a partner in the K.G. Jebsen Center for Cancer Immunotherapy. Affiliated to the group is a Project group in translational cancer immunotherapy led by Jon-Amund Kyte.

AIMS

The group seeks to develop new strategies for cellbased immunotherapy based on insights into the functional regulation of natural killer (NK) cells. We use a combination of single-cell assays, including live cell imaging, high-dimensional immune profiling by mass cytometry, flow cytometry and RNA Seq to decipher the cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in calibration of effector function in human NK cells. The Kyte group aims to develop new combinations of check point inhibition and CAR-engineering.



GROUP | FADER: **KARL-JOHAN MALMBERG**

PROJECTS

- 1) Functional plasticity and diversification of human NK cell repertoires in health and disease
- 2) Programming a synthetic killer cell
- 3) Towards iPS-derived NK cells for off-the-shelf cancer immunotherapy

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

- Reported the first Phase I/II clinical trial based on transfer of allogeneic NK cells to patients with highrisk AML and MDS. (Björklund et al., Clinical Cancer Research 2018).
- Defined a method for selective expansion of adaptive NK cells and showed their efficacy against acute leukemia and as a platform for CAR engineering. (Cancer Immunology Research 2017 and 2018).
- Innovation: Main inventor of a pending patent concerning a method for selective expansion of educated NK cells. Licensed to Fate Therapeutics Inc. January 2018. "Modulation of function of immune effector cells". A PCT application describing the use of agents to altered signalling from secretory granules was filed 25 September 2017.
- Signed a 2-year collaborative agreement with Fate Therapeutics to develop "adaptive" NK cell therapy.

DEPARTMENT OF CANCER IMMUNOLOGY

IMMUNO-MODULATION AND TARGETED THERAPIES



GROUP LEADER: MOULDY SIOUD

OUR GOAL IS TO DEVELOP BIOLOGICAL PHARMACEUTICALS AND BIOMARKERS THAT IMPROVE CANCER TREATMENT

ABOUT

Currently the group consists of 7 members (66% women), including 1.5 postdocs, 2 research assistants, 1 visiting scientist, 1 master student and the group leader (DEA Pharm, PhD) with formal research experience in immunology, molecular/cell biology, pharmacology and medicine. Sioud is a visiting professor at University of Tunis since 1997. The group is a part of the OUS-focus area cancer immunotherapy and H2020 NANO-D-SIRE consortium. Research is mainly focused on probing surface changes in cancer cells and patient serum antibodies using phage display technologies as well as the development of targeted dendritic cell cancer vaccines.

Notably, some of our previous studies have shed light on the underlying mechanisms regulating RNA sensing by the immune system, hematopoietic stem cell sensing of microbial products and gene regulation by endogenous antisense transcripts [e.g., Sioud & Sørensen Nature Biotech 1998; Røsok & Sioud 2004 Nature Biotech; Sioud 2006 Nature Biotech (IF=41); Sioud 2004 Trends Pharmacol Sci (IF= 11.8); Sioud 2006 Trends Mol. Med (IF=10.1)].

AIMS

Our primary aim is to develop new cancer therapeutic agents (e.g. antibodies, lytic peptides, vaccine formulations) and to probe the immune responses in patients treated with checkpoint inhibitors.

PROJECTS

- Engineering new therapeutic human antibodies and lytic peptides
- Probing immune responses in breast cancer patients treated with checkpoint inhibitors
- Developing super-active checkpoint blocking siRNAs
- Uncovering the mechanisms by which dendritic cells suppress immunity during extracorporeal photopheresis

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

- 4 publications
- One patent application (Inven-35426/US-1/PRO).
- Secured funding for 2017-2020 from the Norwegian Cancer Society
- One master thesis

So far the group has published 184 peer-reviewed original articles (mean impact factor = 5.875) and reviews, with 1st and/or last authorship on 86% of the published papers. The work on cancer therapeutic antibodies resulted in 2017 in one patent application (Inven-35426/US-1/PRO) and a DOFI (in preparation).

DEVELOPING PROGNOSTIC AND PREDICTIVE MOLECULAR SIGNATURES FOR B-CELL LYMPHOMA.

ABOUT

The group consists of 13 members with research background in medicine, biology, biochemistry and biotechnology, and includes 1 professor (EBS), 1 associate professor (JHM), 1 senior scientist (50% position), 5 postdocs, 4 PhD students and 1 technician. Three of the members are recruited from abroad (USA, China, Sweden). The group is part of the new KG Jebsen Centre for B-cell malignancies. The research focus is translational studies in B-cell lymphoma, with strong institutional and international collaboration. We use next generation sequencing technologies, high-dimensional flow cytometry and mass cytometry to characterize tumor cells and intratumor immune cells from patient biopsies.

LYMPHOMA

BIOLOGY

AIMS

Identify prognostic and predictive signatures and identify actionable targets/pathways in B-cell lymphoma. Study clonal evolution of B-cell lymphoma and characterize impact of novel driver mutations. Identify patient specific changes in normal infiltrating immune cell subsets to guide choice of immunotherapy.



GROUP LEADER: ERLEND BREMERTUN SMELAND/JUNE MYKLEBUST

PROJECTS

- Next generation sequencing of lymphoma serial biopsies to study clonal evolution and to identify recurrent mutations associated with progression and therapy relapse
- Transcriptomics and proteomics characterization of tumor cells and infiltrating immune cells
- Characterize recurrent driver mutations biological function and potential immunogenicity
- Cancer sensitivity drug screen and in vivo testing of novel drugs

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

Awarded excellent article, OUH, for comprehensive characterization of signaling pathways in B-cell lymphoma (Myklebust, Blood 2017). Discovery of TIGIT as a new target for checkpoint inhibition in FL (Josefsson, Clin Cancer Res 2017). Contributed to development of new molecular prognostic test for mantle cell lymphoma (Scott, J. Clin Oncol 2017). Patent application for CD37 CAR to target lymphoma cells (2017). Mørk Legacy Research prize to June Myklebust.



DEPARTMENT OF **MOLECULAR CELL BIOLOGY**

The department has a staff of about 75 and hosts 5 research groups (Enserink, Rusten, Sandvig, Stenmark, and Wiedlocha), 9 project groups, and a departmental service unit. Research in the department comprises various aspects of cancer relevant cell biology, including membrane traffic, receptor signaling and cell division. Also primary human cancer samples are studied.

Translational research on cancer cell-derived exosomes is a relatively recent development in the department. A common goal for researchers in the department is to uncover novel molecular mechanisms that control cellular functions related to cancer. The department's research strategy is to combine molecular cell biology with biochemistry and advanced imaging in order to address relevant scientific questions. Recent key



ACTING HEAD: KIRSTEN SANDVIG

achievements from the department's scientists include studies on autophagy and tumor growth, growth factor signaling and intracellular transport, exosome secretion and biomarkers for prostate cancer.

In general, the department's groups have been successful in obtaining national and international external funding.

The groups of Stenmark, Sandvig, Wiedlocha and Rusten have been associated with a Centre of Excellence, Centre for Cancer Biomedicine, which ended in August 2017. In addition, Kirsten Sandvig heads a national project on Biodegradable Nanoparticles in Cancer Diagnosis and Therapy, and Harald Stenmark heads the Norwegian Advanced Light Microscopy Infrastructure Network.

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR CELL BIOLOGY

INTRACELLULAR TRANSPORT



GROUP LEADER: KIRSTEN SANDVIG

CANCER Molecular Medicine



ALL THE WAY FROM BASIC RESEARCH TO TRANSLATION

ABOUT

Sandvig's group, counting 17 members, is interested in the mechanisms of endocytosis, intracellular transport and secretion. Uptake of receptors and ligands and correct intracellular sorting of endocytosed molecules are crucial for maintenance of a normal differentiated phenotype. In some studies we are using protein toxins such as ricin and Shiga toxin, which are well established as markers for studies of membrane traffic, and which can be used as agents in cancer diagnosis and therapy. Our expertise is also applied to investigate uptake of nanoparticles, and in 2013 we obtained a five year grant from the Norwegian Research Council to build national competence in nanomedicine. This project, "Biodegradable nanoparticles in cancer diagnosis and therapy", headed by Sandvig, involves collaboration with ten other Norwegian groups working in academia, research institutes, hospitals and industry. The Sandvig group is also involved in an INNO INDIGO granted project, which started April 2016. INNO INDIGO is an innovation-driven initiative for the development and integration of Indian and European research. We also characterize exosomes from prostate cancer cells and patients with the goal of detecting lipid, RNA and protein biomarkers. Our research spans all the way from basic to translational medicine, including innovation. The work published by the Sandvig group is well cited,

and Sandvig's H-index is now 72 (~330 publications). The group has extensive national and international collaborations. It has four project groups, led by Alicia Llorente, Tore-Geir Iversen, Tore Skotland and Sascha Pust.

AIMS

The projects aim at increasing our knowledge about intracellular transport, nanoparticles, and biomarkers in order to provide a rational basis for diagnosis, treatment and prevention of cancer.

PROJECTS

- Characterization of intracellular transport
- Biodegradable nanoparticles in cancer diagnosis and therapy
- Exosomes and prostate cancer

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

Modulation of endocytic mechanisms by lipids and studies of retrograde transport in cells, further studies of exosome biogenesis and release, as well as biomarkers for prostate cancer, and cytotoxic effects of different types of nanoparticles. In 2017 the group published 19 articles, and one Ph.D. student finished her degree. Concerning innovations, see separate paragraph.



ABOUT

The group, which started recently at the Institute for Cancer Research (November 2016), currently consists of one adjunct professor, two externally funded senior scientists, seven post-docs, one clinician in a 20% postdoc position, three PhD students, two MSc students and two Erasmus students. All but two of the group members are recruited from abroad, i.e. Ethiopia, France, the Netherlands, Austria, Spain and the UK. The group is mainly focused on basic cancer biology and personalized medicine, using a wide range of models such as budding yeast, fruit flies and zebrafish, human and mouse cell lines, and primary human cancer samples.

AIMS

Research is aimed at understanding cancer cell biology, with the ultimate goal of developing precise cancer treatments. The main focus is on hematopoietic cancers, including –but not limited to– Acute Myeloid Leukemia (AML).



GROUP LEADER: JORRIT ENSERINK

IDENTIFYING WEAK POINTS IN THE MOLECULAR NETWORKS THAT DRIVE

PROJECTS

- High-throughput drug screens on primary AML blast cells to identify correlations between driver mutations and drug sensitivity profiles
- Development of a novel small-molecule immune checkpoint inhibitor
- Modeling of leukemia in fruit flies to better understand the genetic networks that drive AML
- Genome-wide CRISPR-Cas9 screens in CML cells to identify novel mechanisms of resistance to tyrosine kinase inhibitors
- Cellular responses to nutrient stress; particularly the role of Sumo in promoting cell proliferation, and identification of the upstream pathways that control the dynamics of autophagy

ACHIEVEMENTS

Four Erasmus-sponsored MSc degrees were completed. The group is a founding member of the Norwegian Center of Excellence "CanCell", which was awarded in 2017. Funding obtained: a grant from The South-Eastern Health Authorities. The group published seven articles.

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR CELL BIOLOGY

TUMOR-HOST Biology



GROUP LEADER: TOR ERIK RUSTEN

CELLULAR Membrane Dynamics

77 '

TUMOR-HOST INTERACTIONS DURING CANCER PROGRESSION

ABOUT

The research group counts 6 members representing 6 nationalities in 2017 (Iran, Finland, Switzerland, India, Ireland and Norway): 1 group leader, 1 scientist, 2 post docs and 2 PhD students.

Cancer can be viewed as animal development derailed. Our overarching interest is to understand the mechanisms by which tumor and host cells mutually engage each other in reciprocal interactions to facilitate carcinogenesis. These interactions occur locally in the tumor microenvironment, but also systemically causing organ dysfunction such as in cancer cachexia - the catastrophic wasting of muscle and adipose tissue. We believe that studying these processes can uncover new ways to intercept carcinogenesis.

To this end, we investigate the molecular genetic mechanisms and cell biology of genetically defined experimental tumor-host interactions using a mix of human cell culture and the animal model system, the fruit fly Drosophila melanogaster. We collaborate with national and international experts in cell biology, electron microscopy, genetics, transcriptomics and metabolism to reach our goals.

AIMS

The principal aim is to understand tumor-host interactions that facilitate carcinogenesis in order to uncover novel ways to intercept cancer.

PROJECTS

- Oncogene-induced epithelial disintegration and invasion.
- Tumor-microenvironment interactions and growth support.
- Mechanisms of cancer cachexia.

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

Discovery that malignant tumors induce a stress response in the tumor microenvironment that supports tumor growth through nutrient-generating autophagy (Katheder, N.S., et al, Nature 2017). The tumor suppressor LKB1,responsible for the Peutz-Jegher cancer syndrome, is controlled by endocytic vesicle trafficking and its derailment contributes to tumor growth (O'Farrell, F. et al Nature Cell Biology, 2017).

ABOUT

The group studies the dynamics of cellular membranes and tries to understand their relevance to cancer. Cellular membrane dynamics processes studied by the group include endocytosis, autophagy, and cell division. The group employs advanced molecular biology methods in combination with biochemistry and advanced light and electron microscopy technologies. As model systems the group uses cell cultures, organoid models, fruit flies and zebrafish.

The group is headed by Harald Stenmark (group leader) and Camilla Raiborg (assistant group leader). Its 5 project groups are led by Andreas Brech, Kaisa Haglund, Camilla Raiborg, Kay O. Schink and Eva Wenzel. The staff consists of 1 group leader, 5 project leaders, 2 researchers, 10 postdocs, 4 PhD students, 4 technicians, 1 laboratory assistant and 2 visiting students.

AIMS

The principal aim of the group is to understand how membrane dynamics contribute to tumour suppression and how their dysfunction may promote cancer development.

PROJECTS

- Interplay between membrane dynamics and cell signalling in carcinogenesis
- Phosphoinositides in regulation of membrane dynamics
- · Centrosome dynamics in cancer



GROUP LEADER: HARALD STENMARK

DIVING INTO CELLULAR MEMBRANES TO FIND THE KEYS OF CANCER

- Cytokinesis in development and carcinogenesis
- The $\beta\mbox{-}catenin$ destruction complex in physiology and cancer
- Membrane dynamics in promotion of genome integrity

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

- In a recent study we showed that the PI3P-binding proteins Protrudin and FYCO1 cooperate to mediate translocation of late endosomes towards the plasma membrane for stimulation of protrusion outgrowth (Raiborg et al., Nature 2015). We have now found that PI3P acts upstream of growth-promoting TOR signalling through mediating lysosome translocation close to the plasma membrane (in the proximity to signalling receptors), thus providing a new concept in control of metabolic signalling (Hong et al., J. Cell Biol. 2017).
- Together with peers at Oslo University Hospital and University of Oslo, we have succeeded in obtaining funding from the Research Council for a new Centre of Excellence, Centre for Cancer Cell Reprogramming (CanCell).
- One PhD student was graduated in 2017 (Liliane Christ), and 19 papers were published by group members.

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR CELL BIOLOGY

PROTEIN INTERNALIZATION AND SIGNALING



GROUP LEADER: ANTONI WIEDLOCHA



SEARCHING FOR MOLECULAR TARGETS IN FGF-RELATED MALIGNANCIES

ABOUT

The group is composed of 6 members from 3 nationalities (1 group leader, 1 researcher, 3 postdocs, 1 Ph.D. student; 3 men, 3 women). Maintenance of tissue homeostasis depends on complex intercellular growth factor/ growth factor receptors- mediated signaling networks that control basic cell functions. The fibroblast growth factor (FGF) signaling system represents one of the fundamental tools of such cell-to-cell communication. The signaling system exerts a powerful combination of biological effects during development and in maintaining a malignant phenotype. FGF/FGFR signaling is strongly oncogenic once the tight regulation on its physiological function is lost; it is enabled to be a central driver of tumor progression. FGFs as well as their receptors are frequently and abundantly expressed in various cancers and recognized as mediators of the epithelialmesenchymal transition, tumor cell survival, migration/ metastasis and neoangiogenesis, Therefore, the interest of FGF-induced signaling as a promising target for cancer therapy has systematically been increasing.

AIMS

The main goal of the research group is to elucidate differences in mechanisms of signaling induced by the FGF/FGFR axis in normal tissue and in progression of tumors.

PROJECTS

- Activation and downregulation of FGF/FGFR induced signaling
- Endocytosis, sorting and intracellular transport of FGF1 and FGFRs
- Mechanisms of FGF-induced malignant phenotype
- Targeted therapy for FGFR-expressing cancer –
 experimental approach

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

Using proteomic approaches, we found that FGFR4 uses clathrin-mediated endocytosis for internalization and that FGFR4 can recycle back to surface also through the trans-Golgi network (Haugsten E.M., et. al., J. Proteome Res., 2016). We have also elucidated that PTPRG, a membrane bound tyrosine phosphatase, is an important modulator of FGFR tyrosine kinase activity, by dephosphorylation of the activated FGFR1. Since PTPRG depletion elevated cell growth and negatively affected the efficacy of FGFR1 kinase inhibitors, the phosphatase may have future clinical relevance by being a predictor of outcome after FGFR inhibitor treatment (Kostas M., et al. under review).





DEPARTMENT OF **MOLECULAR DOLECULAR ONCOLOGY**

As a research department within the Oslo University Hospital (OUH) Comprehensive Cancer Centre, it is our responsibility and goal to accomplish high quality and interdisciplinary biomedical research for improved precision medicine and management of cancer patients. Our main research programs are devoted to colorectal cancer and prostate cancer, and we have a longstanding project portfolio also on other solid tumor types. Our expertise in biomedical research spans several disciplines from cell biology to translational research, including also active partnerships in clinical studies, and we have a broad range of advanced technologies and analytical tools established in-lab. The department scientists are inventors of several biomedical patents and active innovation projects.

All three group leaders are adjunct professors at the University of Oslo and are affiliated with the Institute for Clinical Medicine, the Institute for Biosciences and the Institute for Informatics. The scientists in the department are devoted to teaching and supervision, and a minimum of three academic degrees are completed annually; 53 MSc/PhD degrees have successfully been completed since the inauguration of the department in 2006.



HEADED BY: RAGNHILD A. LOTHE

The research groups are partners of the K. G. Jebsen Colorectal Cancer Research Centre, the OUH priority area for colorectal cancer (both led by Prof. Lothe), the Norwegian Cancer Genomics Consortium, and several international networks including the European network for study on Cholangiocarcinoma, the Global Testicular Cancer Consortium, and Cooperation Studies on Colorectal Cancer (COST action).

During the past 3-years, we have published 55 scientific papers, with 1st and/or last authorships on 58% and with a mean IF of 6.1. Six PhD and 8 MSc students with supervisors from the department received their academic degrees.

Our main research focus for the next three to five years is three-fold, (i) to explore spatio-temporal tumor heterogeneity in colorectal cancer and prostate cancer, (ii) to monitor minimal residual disease and tumor evolution by parallel analyses of repeated liquid biopsies and tumor samples, and (iii) combine genomics with ex vivo drug screening of tumor cell-derived organoid cultures to predict treatment response in translational studies and within clinical trials.

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR ONCOLOGY

GENETICS



GROUP LEADER: RAGNHILD A. LOTHE

EPIGENETICS

GENOMICS – IRREVERSIBLE MISTAKES IN CANCER AND A SOURCE FOR CLINICAL BIOMARKERS

ABOUT

Our main research program is translational studies of primary and metastatic colorectal cancer (CRC). The group has 24 employees (9 postdocs/scientists, 9 PhD students, 6 research assistants/engineers) and 1 current MSc student, and includes two project groups in Cell signaling (Edward Leithe) and Computational oncology (Anita Sveen).

AIMS

Our overarching goal is to translate novel biomedical knowledge into improved patient stratification and treatment of CRC.

PROJECTS

- Prognostic and predictive biomarkers (CRC and malignant peripheral nerve sheet tumors, MPNST)
- Modeling tumor heterogeneity and clonal evolution in primary and metastatic CRC
- Pharmacogenomics of preclinical models
- Ex vivo drug screening of tumor organoids derived from metastatic CRC
- E3 ubiquitin ligases in intercellular communication and CRC pathogenesis

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

Most resources were put into the genomics and pharmacogenomics projects, and two international collaborative papers with clinical implications were published from our lab last year. In a multi-omics study focused on microsatellite instable CRC, we discovered a large degree of tumor heterogeneity with potential implications for response to immunotherapy and prognostic assessment (Sveen et al., Genome Med 2017). Pharmacogenomic analyses combining gene expression subtyping and drug screening of cell lines and patientderived xenografts identified HSP90 inhibitors as potent drugs to overcome chemoresistance in patients with an aggressive subtype of CRC. (Sveen*, Bruun* et al. Clin Cancer Res 2017). In addition we successfully established a protocol for tumor-organoid cell culturing from resected liver metastases followed by drug screening (to be published).

A recent project studying E3 ubiquitin ligases in cancer development found NEDD4 to act oncogenic by reducing cell communication (Totland et al., J Cell Science 2017).

Three papers were published for the purpose of data sharing in the scientific community (Berg et al., Mol Cancer 2017; Sveen et al., CCR 2017; Eide et al., Scientific Rep 2017).

A US patent was granted for a prognostic gene signature for stage III CRC, Anita Sveen received the YI prize at the National Annual Meeting for Oncologists, and Tone Fykerud defended her PhD and Marthe N Thorsen completed her MSc.



ABOUT

In the group of Epigenetics we are studying DNA methylation alterations by integrating methylome sequencing with detailed candidate gene characterization. The research is performed across cancer types, with a main focus on colorectal and urological cancer. In 2017 the group counted ten members, including three postdocs, one PhD student, two engineers, three MSc students and the group leader.

AIMS

1) To identify epigenetic biomarkers with clinical impact, including markers for early detection and monitoring of cancer.

2) To analyze and understand the underlying biology of these aberrations and how they affect the cancer development.

PROJECTS

- Epigenetic subclassification and prognostic markers for colorectal cancer
- Mechanisms of the DNA methylation machinery
- Methylome-based early detection and monitoring of urological cancers
- Identification of epigenetic drivers of tumor development

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

The digital PCR technology allows absolute quantification of nucleic acids, and has great potential for DNA



GROUP LEADER: GURO E. LIND

EPIGENOMICS – REVERSIBLE CHANGES IN CANCER AND A SOURCE FOR

methylation analyses of liquid biopsies. However, lack of standardization has so far limited the use of this method (see Editorial in Epigenomics, Lind GE and van Engeland M, 2017). We have developed a robust internal control and an accompanying scoring algorithm that solves the challenges and ensures consistent results. The work has resulted in two patent applications. A US patent was granted for VIM in bladder cancer. Using methylome sequencing in combination with the standardized digital PCR technology, we have identified novel DNA methylation biomarkers for non-invasive monitoring of bladder cancer. In urine from bladder cancer patients and healthy controls^{*} the biomarker panel has a sensitivity of 97% and specificity 100%. To evaluate the accuracy of the panel in detecting recurrence of bladder cancer, we are, in collaboration with the Wahlqvist team at Aker, following a group of post-surgery individuals for two years.

We have demonstrated prognostic value of the epigenetic phenotype CIMP, which can stratify the microsatellite stable/BRAF mutated poor prognostic group of colorectal cancer patients (Vedeld et al., Int J Ca 2017). An overview of epigenetic biomarkers in gastrointestinal cancer was presented in Semin Cancer Biol (Vedeld et al., 2017). Mariella Güere completed her MSc.

*Thanks to colleagues at the Institute who contributed to the control group

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR ONCOLOGY

GENOME BIOLOGY



GROUP LEADER: ROLF I. SKOTHEIM

TRANSCRIPTOMICS – THE EXPRESSED GENOME MISTAKES AND A SOURCE FOR CLINICAL BIOMARKERS

ABOUT

The Genome Biology group studies how genomes and transcriptomes are altered in cancer cells by using both computational biology and wet-lab based approaches. Mutation analyses in cancer clearly benefit from knowing which genes and variants that are actually expressed. In this line, the group has particularly specialized in RNA-level analyses, and the projects focus on prostate cancer, although we are also involved with projects on testicular and colorectal cancers. An interdisciplinary set of competences is required to perform meaningful genome-scale cancer research. As such, personnel in the group have their basic education across the disciplines of biology, informatics, and medicine. Through 2017, the group consisted of ten members, including three postdocs, two engineers, two PhD students, one MSc student, a study nurse and the group leader.

AIMS

The research aim is to identify and characterize genes that are critical for development of cancer. Such genes may serve as diagnostic or prognostic biomarkers and as targets for future molecularly tailored therapy.

PROJECTS

- Genome-based prostate cancer biomedicine
- Fusion transcripts and other qualitative RNA variation in cancer
- Modelling heterogeneous solid tumours from multi-omics data

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

During 2017, the group continued the development of a large prostate cancer research program, primarily utilising a biobank resource with multiple frozen tissue cores from multifocal primary prostate cancer. Large effort has been spent on processing of tissue samples, isolation of nucleic acids, generation of genomics and transcriptomics data. A postdoc in the group, Andreas M. Hoff, spent twelve months at the Broad Institute, a world-leading site for genomics technologies, where he for example worked on structural genome changes and mutation analysis from cell-free DNA derived from plasma samples. The group continued to develop bioinformatics pipelines for high-throughput sequencing of DNA and RNA and utilized these in analyses of data from several cancer cohorts. For example, the group identified a set of fusion transcripts which are overexpressed in prostate cancer (Zhao et al., Oncotarget). Further, a novel software has been developed for visualizing fusion transcripts (Lågstad et al., Bioinformatics). Altogether, seven papers were published during 2017, including the two abovementioned papers with first and/or last authors from the research group. In 2017, Kristina Totland Carm completed her MSc degree.





DEPARTMENT OF RADIATION BIOLOGY

The Department has more than 60 employees organized in \varDelta research groups and 6 project groups. The research at the department is focused on the biological responses to ionizing and non-ionizing radiation, including γ-radiation, radiation from radionuclides, ultraviolet radiation, visible light as well as proton therapy. Our department is actively engaged in revealing the mechanisms involved in DNA repair, cell-cycle regulation, genomic instability and immune responses after radiation, the impact of hypoxia on the radiation response and predictive markers for the outcome of radiotherapy of cancer patients. The department is also involved in delivering radionuclides to cancer tissue. Another research area is the use of visible light to activate photosensitive compounds that are used for cancer detection and therapy. In that respect a technology has been developed, photochemical internalization (PCI), which may be utilized for site-directed intracellular delivery and activation of therapeutics into cancer cells. This technology induces reactive oxygen species that has similarities to the biological response to ionizing radiation. Our vision is to develop a radiobiological understanding of response to ionizing and non-ionizing radiation on the molecular, cellular and physiological level, and to utilize this knowledge to design new strategies for the treatment of cancer. Our research strategy involves basic radiobiological research, translational and clinical studies.



HEADED BY: KRISTIAN BERG

OUR GOALS ARE

- to understand the molecular and physiological mechanisms behind tumour response to radiation, and to develop predictive methods and treatment strategies
- to utilize acquired knowledge to establish new radiation-based treatment regimens with improved specificity and efficacy towards cancer cells
- to develop treatment strategies utilizing non-ionizing radiation combined with photosensitizing agents, either to induce tumour cell kill directly or via internalization of therapeutic or sensitizing agents

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS THE LAST 3-4 YEARS INCLUDE

- Novel patient-derived xenograft models of carcinoma of the uterine cervix showing functional intratumoral lymphatics have been established and characterized
- Increased knowledge about how Chk1 and Wee1 inhibitors work to kill cancer cells
- PCI has been found efficient as a methodology to enhance antigen presentation during anti-cancer vaccination. Several new recombinant targeted protein toxins have been developed and are under preclinical evaluation. A phase I clinical trial documenting the safety and efficacy of PCI has been published in Lancet Oncology
- A production unit for biomolecular therapeutics has been established
- A new method to image hypoxia in prostate cancer based on integration of images reflecting oxygen consumption and supply has been developed
- We gained important new knowledge about the regulation of translation in response to cellular stress as well as about the function of the stress-response kinase GCN2 in human cells

DEPARTMENT OF RADIATION BIOLOGY

PHOTOCHEMICAL INTERNALIZATION



GROUP LEADER: **KRISTIAN BERG**

CLINICAL RADIATION BIOLOGY



OUR GOAL IS TO DEVELOP AND OPTIMIZE THE PCI TECHNOLOGY FOR **TREATMENT OF SOLID CANCERS**

ABOUT

Group members: 17, including 5 researchers, 2 postdocs, 3 PhD students and 6 technical positions, including the project groups of Asta Juzeniene, Pål Kristian Selbo, Anette Weyergang and Theodossis Theodossiou.

Endocytic entrapment is a hurdle for therapeutic utilization of macromolecular therapeutics with intracellular targets. Photochemical internalisation (PCI) is a technology for release of endocytosed therapeutic macromolecules into the cells cytosol that has been development from experimental studies to clinical evaluation.

Project Radionuclide therapy (project leader Juzeniene): Targeted radionuclide therapy, based on systemic, regional or local application of radiopharmaceuticals alone or in combination with a cell-targeting molecule, are developed to improve patient's quality of life, prolong survival and may even lead to cure.

AIMS

The main aim of our group is to develop and optimize the PCI technology for treatment of solid cancers with a curative endpoint.

Project Radionuclide therapy:

The main goal is to optimize alpha radionuclide delivery and to study its efficacy for treatment of bone, lung and peritoneal micrometastases.

PROJECTS

- · Design and development of recombinant immunotoxins for activation by PCI
- · Light-controlled delivery of cancer immunotherapeutics including PCI of 1) immunotoxins targeting cancer stem cells (CSCs) and 2) CSC-derived vaccines.
- Utilize new vehicles for targeted delivery of small molecular drugs to endocytic vesicles for activation by PCI
- Evaluation of the vasculature as a target for PCI and further utilize these effects to reach a curative endpoint
- · A novel therapy for osteosarcoma by dual targeted alpha particle radiation
- · Targeted alpha radionuclide therapy for bone metastasis of prostate and breast cancer
- Alpha-emitting ²²⁴Ra-labeled microparticles for the treatment of intraperitoneal ovarian cancer

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

- Documented the anti-tumor immunity potential of PCI of bleomvcin.
- · Established a biomolecule production unit based on recombinant technology.
- New grants in 2017: Protonics (Open project support, Theododdiou);
- Researcher stipend (Selbo), 1 PhD (HSØ)
- · Three project groups were established in 2017
- No. of papers in 2017: 10
- PhD thesis: 1
- MSc thesis in 2016: 1



ABOUT

Group members: 11, including one researcher, five postdocs, two PhD students, one master student and two technicians.

The focus is to develop molecular biomarkers that can identify patients at risk of radiotherapy failure and to find targets for therapeutic intervention in a combined radiotherapy regimen. The research projects are run in close collaboration with medical doctors and physicists. The work is based on tumor biopsies and blood samples collected at diagnosis or during therapy.

Whole genome methodology is used, including microarray and sequencing techniques, which provides new insight into the disease and enables identification of novel biomarkers and drug targets. In collaboration with Department of Medical Physics, we also explore whether functional tumor images (MRI/PET) can aid the translation of the molecular findings into radiotherapy practice.

AIMS

- Understand molecular mechanisms behind radioresistance of cervical and prostate cancer
- Develop biomarkers and find drug targets for personalized radiotherapyof patients with these diseases



GROUP | FADER: **HEIDI LYNG**

OUR GOAL IS TO DISCOVER BIOMARKERS AND MOLECULAR TARGETS FOR

PROJECTS

- · Genetic alterations and chemo-radioresistance in cervical cancer
- Molecular hypoxia biomarkers in cervical and prostate cancer
- Combined molecular and imaging biomarkers in cervical and prostate cancer

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

In 2017, the group has published 4 articles. One PhD student (Jonsson) achieved her degree with the thesis: Hypoxia-induced aggressiveness in cervical and prostate cancer with special emphasis on gene regulation, metabolism and biomarkers.

One master student (Gjølberg) graduated with the thesis: Phenotypic changes following upregulation of miR-105-5p, miR-767-5p and miR-6499-5p in SW756 cervical cancer cell lines.

We received HSØ grant to establish regional research network in precision radiotherapy, a collaborative effort between researchers (radiobiologists, medical physicists and medical doctors) at Sørlandet Hospital, Innlandet Hospital and OUH.

DEPARTMENT OF RADIATION BIOLOGY

RADIATION **BIOLOGY AND TUMOR PHYSIOLOGY**



GROUP LEADER: EINAR K. ROFSTAD

OUR GOAL IS TO IDENTIFY STRATEGIES FOR PERSONALIZED RADIATION THERAPY OF CANCER

ABOUT

Group members: 10, including 2 researchers, 4 postdocs, 2 PhD students, and 2 technicians.

The focus of the group is to improve the outcome of radiation therapy of cancer. Poor outcome is a consequence of radiation resistance and elevated metastatic propensity of the primary tumor, and our research is based on the hypothesis that poor outcome is caused primarily by an abnormal physiological tumor microenvironment. Xenografts of human cervical carcinoma, pancreatic carcinoma, and malignant melanoma are used as preclinical tumor models. In addition to standard molecular biology methods, important methods include intravital microscopy, MRI, and probe measurements of physiological parameters.

AIMS

To reach the primary goal, our research is divided into two arms with the following aims:

- To develop MRI-based methods that can provide information on the physiological microenvironment, metastatic propensity, and radiocurability of tumors
- To develop treatment strategies for normalizing the physiological microenvironment, decreasing the metastatic propensity, and enhancing the radiocurability of tumors

PROJECTS

- Clinical MRI of locally-advanced cervical carcinoma
- · Preclinical MRI of cervical carcinoma, pancreatic carcinoma, and malignant melanoma
- Antiangiogenic and antifibrotic treatment of tumors
- · Mechanisms governing the physiological microenvironment of tumors

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

The group published 10 papers in 2017. In these papers, we report novel relationships between

- (a) parametric images obtained by dynamic contrastenhanced MRI and the outcome of cervical cancer patients treated with chemoradiotherapy,
- (b) parametric images obtained by dynamic contrastenhanced and diffusion-weighted MRI, tumor hypoxia, and tumor extracellular matrix,
- (c) lymph node metastasis, pulmonary metastasis, and the physiological tumor microenvironment,
- (d) tumor angiogenic signature and effect of antiangiogenic treatment, and
- (e) tumor hypoxia and microvessel architecture.

RADIATION **BIOLOGY AND DNA DAMAGE SIGNALING**

TO RADIATION AND UTILIZE IT TO IMPROVE CANCER THERAPY

ABOUT:

Group members: 12 including 3.9 researchers, 3 postdocs, 2.8 PhD students and 2.3 technicians.

Theme: In radiotherapy ionizing radiation is used to cause DNA damage in cancer cells. The DNA damage is rapidly sensed and a network of intracellular DNA damage signaling cascades is activated. These signaling cascades influence whether the cells die or survive, through regulation of DNA repair, cell cycle checkpoint and cell death pathways.

Our group works on the border between basic and translational radiation research. We conduct basic projects to identify novel mechanisms of DNA damage checkpoint signaling, in addition to more applied projects to understand how inhibitors of checkpoint signaling can be used in an optimized manner for cancer treatment. Two project groups, headed by Beata Grallert and Trond Stokke, are members of our group.

AIMS

 Obtain new knowledge about cellular responses to radiation, with focus on cell cycle checkpoints, DNA damage signaling and repair, and explore how such knowledge can be used to improve radiotherapy.



GROUP | FADER: RANDI G. SYLJUÅSEN

OUR GOAL IS TO OBTAIN NEW KNOWLEDGE ABOUT CELLULAR RESPONSES

PROJECTS

- Pre-clinical exploration of the effects of checkpoint kinase (CHK1, WEE1, ATR) and PARP inhibitors
- The functional role of Protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) targeting subunits in DNA damage checkpoint signaling
- Identification of promising DNA damage combination treatments through flow cytometry-based large-scale compound screens
- · Centrosomal and ciliary proteins in cell cycle regulation and genome integrity roles and targets in cancer etiology, diagnostics and treatment
- The role of GCN2 and translational regulation in the cell cycle and cellular stress

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

In 2017 the group published 6 articles. Members of the group were senior author on 3 of these (published in Oncotarget, Journal of Cell Science, Plos One). One PhD student graduated in 2017 (C. Rothe: "Regulation of Cdk activity in the cell cycle"). In December 2017 the group obtained grants from the Norwegian Research Council (FRIPRO) and the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority.



DEPARTMENT OF **TUMOR BIOLOGY**

The department has four research groups and 56 employees with a common vision to better understand the biological mechanisms involved in cancer progression and metastasis. Our strategy is, through basic and translational research in the areas of cancer biology and computational science, to enhance systems understanding and thereby identify novel intervention strategies. We emphasize multidisciplinary competence and collaboration between researchers, clinicians and patients to stimulate the necessary synergy for improved cancer care.

We are performing basic, translational and clinical research, and our scientific goal is to provide knowledge for clinical translation of precision cancer medicine. We will do so by contributing with expertise in genomics and bioinformatics and by utilizing patient samples as model systems for investigation of therapeutic efficacy. We have a large collection of patient-derived xenograft models from different types of human cancer. The models are utilized for biological studies of disease progression, and for preclinical evaluation of novel drugs and drug combinations.

To foster a strong link between translational and clinical research we have several researchers holding part-time clinical positions. An ambition for the department is to participate in design and conduct of clinical trials, and to provide molecular and bioinformatics competences in multidisciplinary tumor boards in the area of precision cancer medicine.



HEADED BY: GUNHILD M. MÆLANDSMO

Key achievements over the last 3-4 years include project leader responsibilities in large collaborative projects in the area of precision cancer medicine:

NCGC - The Norwegian Cancer Genomics Consortium, a national project aiming to sequence tumors across nine tumor types. Currently most of the exomes have been sequenced and are being analyzed. Several papers are now under publication.

NoSarC - Norwegian Sarcoma Consortium, a national project aiming to collect a prospective biobank and study disease development and treatment of sarcoma. Exome sequencing is ongoing and preclinical models are generated for studies of candidate drugs.

MetAction - Actionable targets in cancer metastasis. An efficient diagnostic pipeline has been established in this first clinical trial in Norway offering treatment based on targeted NGS data. 50 patients were enrolled and in 11 cases treatment was commenced.

MOVEMBER - Identifying biomarkers distinguishing indolent and aggressive prostate cancer. Candidate biomarkers have been identified using Norwegian cohorts of serum, urine and tissue, and are currently undergoing validation in independent national and international cohorts.

Other clinical studies with substantial collateral research; NeoAva: Bevacizumab in combination with neoadjuvant chemotherapy in breast cancer (patient inclusion ended) I-BCT: DNA targeted chemotherapy to breast cancer patients with an aggressive phenotype ImmunoPeCa: Immunotoxin in Peritoneal Carcinomatosis Biobank Norway - a national initiative to coordinate biobank activities for research purposes

DEPARTMENT OF TUMOR BIOLOGY

METASTASIS BIOLOGY AND EXPERIMENTAL THERAPEUTICS



GROUP | FADER GUNHILD M. MÆLANDSMO



CONTEXT-INDUCED CELLULAR PLASTICITY - THE ROUTE TO RESISTANCE AND METASTASIS

ABOUT

Employees: The group has 20 members with multidisciplinary background and expertise (cell- and molecular biologists, medical doctors, physicists, laboratory- and animal technicians), including two MDs in shared clinical positions. Several of the technicians are trained in specialized technologies and compose resources for all groups in the department. Research focus: Investigations on mechanisms of resistance and metastasis for improved treatment of cancer.

Methodology: Molecular and functional analyses utilizing clinical samples, human cell cultures and patient-derived models (ex vivo, in vitro and in vivo).

Project groups:

Kristin Austlid Tasken - Urological Molecular Biology Lina Prasmickaite – Tumor stroma interactions in metastasis and resistance

AIMS

Metastatic progression is the major clinical challenge and the principal cause of death in cancer patients. To combat metastatic cancer our goal is to understand the underlying biological mechanisms causing therapy resistance, invasion and re-growth. Knowledge on these processes is vital for identification of molecules that can be utilized as prognostic and predictive biomarkers or as targets for therapy. We are working with malignant melanoma, breast cancer and prostate cancer.

PROJECTS

- 1. Basic research revealing mechanisms causing treatment resistance and metastasis
- · Metastasis associated proteins and regulators, with special emphasis on tumor-stroma interactions and effects on cellular plasticity (cancer cell invasion, metabolic reprogramming and immune responses)
- 2. Preclinical research investigating novel drugs and drug combinations
 - · Mechanistic studies and assessment of treatment efficacy in patient-derived xenografts
 - · Biomarker detection by molecular and functional techniques
- · Response evaluation of experimental drugs (often in collaboration with commercial partners, eq.: Lytix Biopharma, Arctic Pharma/Biomolex, Oncoinvent) 3. Clinical trials in precision medicine
- · NeoAva: bevacizumab in combination with neoadjuvant chemotherapy for patients with locally advanced breast cancer (patient inclusion closed)
- I-BCT: extended DNA-targeted chemotherapy to breast cancer patients with an aggressive phenotype
- MetAction: Actionable target identification in metastatic cancer for palliative targeted treatment (patient inclusion closed)

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

- Metrics: Group members were credited with 14 publications in 2017, of which five with group members as first and/or last author; two PhD degrees and two Master degrees completed
- Successful establishment of the MetAction diagnostic pipeline allowing treatment decisions based on targeted NGS-data (50 enrolled patients)
- One clinical intervention trial open for inclusion (I-BCT)

TRANSLATIONAL CANCER THERAPY

NEW TREATMENT FOR METASTATIC COLORECTAL CANCER

ABOUT

The Translational Cancer Therapy group comprises 16 members with a broad variety of expertise, including students, basic biologists, translational scientists, and clinician-scientists. Our approach to research is translational, encompassing methods from biochemistry and cell biology, preclinical drug testing in animal models, biomarker studies in clinical cohorts and interventional clinical trials. Extensive collaboration has been established within the Institute, with clinical departments, nationally and internationally.

AIMS

Our long-term aim is to develop new, efficacious treatment(s) for colorectal cancer (CRC). This will be accomplished by bringing the clinic and lab together in translational research projects utilizing 1) preclinical models for efficacy and mechanistic studies 2) clinical cohort studies to understand CRC biology and identify biomarkers and therapeutic targets 3) clinical intervention trials to test new drugs and therapeutic concepts in patients

PROJECTS

· Personalizing CRC therapy - identification of biomarkers and therapeutic targets in locally advanced and metastatic CRC, involving generation and use of our extensive biobanks, molecular and bioinformatics analyses (subprojects include: genomics, microRNA, mRNA, and immune cell analysis, participation in the BigMed project)



GROUP | FADER: **KJERSTI FLATMARK**

- Novel drugs and therapeutic concepts in models of peritoneal and liver metastases
- · Translational studies within the METIMMOX multicentre trial (Colorectal Cancer Metastasis - Shaping Anti-Tumor Immunity by Oxaliplatin), which will investigate the combination of oxaliplatin and checkpoint inhibition (nivolumab) in microsatellite stable CRC
- Commercial development of MOC₃₁PE and BM₇PE immunotoxins for cancer therapy

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

- · Group members were credited with 24 publications in 2017; 1 masters degree was completed
- · Successful completion of the MetAction study, including establishment of the diagnostic pipeline enabling treatment decisions based on targeted NGS-data for 50 enrolled patients
- · Successful completion of the ImmunoPeCa trial investigating intraperitoneal administration of MOC₃₁PE immunotoxin in patients with resectable peritoneal metastases from CRC
- Successful completion of the first of its kind Laparoscopic Versus Open Resection for Colorectal Liver Metastases: The OSLO-COMET Randomized Controlled Trial.
- · Preparations for the multicenter METIMMOX trial have been completed and the trial will start accrual in March 2018
- Preparation of a COST action proposal for the Cure4PMP European Research Network

DEPARTMENT OF TUMOR BIOLOGY

COMPUTATIONAL CANCER GENOMICS



GROUP LEADER: EIVIND HOVIG

MOLECULAR BIOLOGY OF Sarcoma



ENABLING THE TRANSITION TO CLINICAL UTILITY

ABOUT

The 10-member group has strong interest in the development of computational approaches in cancer genomics in general, and in melanoma systems biology, with an emphasis on the MITF master switch of melanocytes. Currently, activity is centred on computational aspects of deep sequencing for cancer, with downstream analysis. The group facilitates precision cancer medicine towards the clinic, leveraging the participation in the BIGMED RCN-financed ICT lighthouse project.

The group collaborates with deCODE, Iceland, on the characterization of a familial cancer biobank, with 16000 genotyped samples, and where 2000 Norwegians have been whole genome sequenced. We pursue both the heritable cancer information from this effort, as well as a characterization of the ethnic Norwegian population genetics as a communal resource for Norway.

AIMS

We aim to

- apply and develop novel methodology for computational studies of cancer-related processes, including statistical genomics, 3-dimensional DNA conformation, drug prediction algorithms and mutational processes
- contribute insight on heritable cancer-predisposing DNA-variation in the Norwegian population
- characterize the geographical stratification aspects of the Norwegian population
- develop solutions for precision cancer medicine towards the clinic
- · understand signaling processes in melanoma

PROJECTS

- Development of solutions for integrative cancer sequencing towards diagnostics, and participation in international efforts for development of best practice methods, including being computational leaders of the Norwegian Cancer Genomics Consortium, partner of the BIGMED ICT lighthouse and of Elixir Norway, and participates in the Center of Innovation Excellence Big Insight for the knowledge economy.
- Further development of statistical genomics based on our software, the Genomic HyperBrowser. This is an internationally used tool for multipurpose integrated statistical analysis of genomic data.
- Melanoma signaling perturbations for systems understanding, including MITF, BRAF and CDKN2A aberrations
- Understanding the consequences for modulation of immune responses in melanoma
- Familial cancer project, including a close collaboration with deCODE, Iceland

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

- Group members were credited with 18 publications in 2017, of which 7 with group members as first and/or last author.
- 2 Master degrees were completed
- · Pink ribbon funding was obtained

USING PRECISION MEDICINE TO IMPROVE TREATMENT OF SARCOMAS

ABOUT

The 15-member group has a long standing interest in the biology of mesenchymal tumors (sarcomas). Jørgen Wesche started as a new group leader 1st of April 2017. The group was previous led by Heidi Maria Namløs and Ola Myklebost. The current focus is on precision medicine for sarcomas. To achieve this, the group has broad expertise in basic cell biology and translational research and, in addition, one MD in a shared clinical position.

AIMS

As an overall approach, the group is combing genetic characterization by deep genomic analysis of patient material with preclinical investigation in cell cultures and human tumor models in mice. The generation and characterization of in vitro and in vivo sarcoma models make the framework for the pre-clinical analyses. Sarcomas are rare cancers, with poor treatment options, and can gain much from personalized cancer treatment. The choice of treatment would be based on the tumor's mutations, opening for the opportunity to use treatments currently approved for other cancers with similar mutations. The ultimate aim is to work towards future precision medicine for sarcomas.



GROUP LEADER: JØRGEN WESCHE

PROJECTS

- Norwegian Sarcoma Consortium (NoSarC) Biobanking and genomic characterization of patient material of 2-3 national cohorts of sarcomas, estimated to at least 500 samples. The project will provide unique, population based datasets including the many rare subtypes of sarcomas.
- Preclinical investigation Using in vitro and in vivo models to evaluate the therapeutic potential of drugs that target mutations identified in patient tumors.
- Sarcoma cell biology Gaining further understanding of development and progression of rhabdomyosarcoma, liposarcoma and osteosarcoma, and potentially identify biomarkers and novel drug targets.
- Establishment of ex-vivo drug sensitivity/resistance screen for sarcoma primary tumors, and search for novel anti-sarcoma drugs using drug screens on panels of liposarcoma and osteosarcoma cell lines.
- Implementation of sequencing in diagnostics.
- Exploration of "liquid biopsies", the detection of tumor-derived DNA in blood, to monitor disease progression and therapeutic markers.

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

Publications: 13 2 master degrees and 1 PhD completed.



DEPARTMENT OF CORE FACILITIES

The Department of Core Facilities runs seven regional and national technology platforms financed by the South-Eastern Regional Health Authorities and the Research Council of Norway, providing advanced services to regional, national and international users. The Department aims to deliver easy access to stateof-the-art advanced technologies, to improve research quality through assistance by experienced personnel and optimal choice of technology, and ultimately increase the scientific competitiveness of our users. The Department of Core Facilites is organized in six units; Flow Cytometry, Pre Clinical Imaging, Advanced Light and Electron Microscopy, Genomics, and Bioinformatics, with a total of 19 employees. In 2016, the Genomics and Bioinformatics units relocated to the new Oslo Cancer Cluster Innovation Park, colocalising their activities with the Section for Molecular Diagnostics at Oslo University Hospital. This strategic move aims to facilitate the implementation of sequencing-based molecular cancer diagnostics. More information at: www.ous-research.no/ corefacilities.

ADVANCED LIGHT MICROSCOPY Ellen Skarpen

Facility staff: 2

The Core Facility for Advanced Light Microscopy (ALM) offers services in various types of ALM, including confocal microscopy, live-cell microscopy and superresolution microscopy. Current instruments



ACTING HEAD: TROND STOKKE

include a Zeiss LSM710 confocal microscope and an OMX Blaze microscope for structured illumination and STORM super-resolution imaging, as well as live-cell microscopy. The core facility cooperates with nodes at the Rikshospitalet and Ullevål campuses of OUH, as well as the light microscopy core facility at the Institute for Biosciences, University of Oslo. The core facility for ALM is a Eurobioimaging node, providing state-of-theart technologies in the fields of biological and medical imaging. Services include training, courses, access to microscopes and microscopy performed by core facility personnel.

ADVANCED ELECTRON MICROSCOPY

Ellen Skarpen

Facility staff: 1

The Core Facility for Advanced Electron Microscopy includes nodes at the Radium Hospital and Rikshospitalet, and provides service, training and access to microscopes for ultrastructural studies. The core facility offers a wide range of techniques including conventional plastic embedding, immune EM, correlative light/electron microscopy (CLEM), high pressure freezing and electron tomography. Current instrumentation includes 3 transmission electron microscopes and sample preparation tools such as microtomes (cryo), highpressure freezers and freeze substitution units. The core facility actively cooperates with the imaging platform at the Institute for Biosciences, University of Oslo.

DEPARTMENT OF CORE FACILITIES

BIOINFORMATICS Susanne Lorenz

Facility staff: 5 The Bioinformatics Core Facility (BCF) provides service, support and advice in the field of bioinformatics. By combining biology with computer science, statistics and mathematical modelling we offer support for analysis and interpretation of biological data including genomics, transcriptomics and proteomics for basic and translational research. The BCF has a specific focus on developing and providing solutions for precision medicine and cancer-related projects. Our service also includes support with data handling and storage by providing approved solutions for sensitive data. The operation of the BCF is aligned with the national and local Elixir bioinformatics infrastructure project, and also interacts with USIT, University of Oslo, to facilitate the use of high performance computing resources.

FLOW CYTOMETRY Trond Stokke Facility staff: 3

The Flow Cytometry Core Facility (FCCF) provides analysis and sorting services for users within the South-Eastern Health Region of Norway. Flow cytometry analysis can be performed by users themselves, as well as assisted by core facility personnel. We have 3 analyzers and two sorters with up to 6 lasers each that may measure up to 21 fluorescence parameters simultaneously. Sorting experiments are either performed by core facility staff, or by the users in the Sony SH100 sorter. The FCCF has possibilities for high-throughput screening, processing and staining of cells in 96- or 384-well plates, followed by automated analysis. We have installed a new "mass-spec flow cytometer", the CyTOF. This instrument can measure up to 50-60 parameters simultaneously at single cell resolution. The FCCF collaborates with facility nodes at the Rikshospitalet and Ullevål campuses of OUH.

GENOMICS HIGH-THROUGHPUT SEQUENCING AND MICROARRAYS Susanne Lorenz Facility staff: 6

The Genomics Core Facility (GCF) provides stateof-the art high-throughput genomic services to the Norwegian scientific community. The GCF offers an extensive portfolio of complex technologies to study genome structure, dynamics and function using highthroughput sequencing and different commercial microarray platforms. Our highly competent and experienced service personnel provide advanced support to clinical, translational and basic researchers. Our services include standard and custom solutions to study the transcriptome, genome and epigenome from multi-genes to genome wide level. The core facility collaborates with similar nodes at the Ullevål campus for sequencing and microarray services. The GCF is a member of the Norwegian Genomics Consortium, and the Norwegian Consortium for Sequencing and Personalised Medicine (NorSeq). The GCF provides the sequencing infrastructure and competence for the National Personalised Medicine initiative, and in 2016 has renewed its sequencing instrumentation by a large infrastructure grant financed by Research Council of Norway.

PRECLINICAL IMAGING FACILITY

Trond Stokke Facility staff: 2

The Preclinical Imaging Facility provides access to a state-of-the-art non-invasive imaging equipment for mice and rats. The equipment is situated within the animal facility and consist of a 7T Bruker MRI, IVIS spectrum and Zeiss Stereo Macroscope for optical imaging, and a Multirad 225 small animal irradiator capable of doing x-ray imaging. The facility also provides all the necessary equipment for in vivo research on small animals or tissue/organ samples from larger animals or humans. A comprehensive library of standard off-the shelf imaging protocols are available, and custom-protocols can be developed upon user request. The service offered by the core facility includes design, development and running of the imaging experiment, as well as post processing of the data in addition to instrument specific training. The core facility collaborates with the Preclinical MRI node at the Ullevål campus.



RESEARCH CENTRES

CENTRE OF EXCELLENCE

 \mathbf{b}

The Centres of Excellence (CoE) scheme is a national programme under the auspices of the Research Council of Norway. The granted CoE is funded for 5 + 5 years (if recommended following a midterm evaluation). The total basic funding is ~100 million NOK.

62

K.G.JEBSEN CENTRES

The K.G. Jebsen Foundation supports centres for medical research of high international translational medicine. The centres are selected in collaboration with the Norwegian with the possibility of a 2 year receive 16 million NOK in basic University Hospital (Colorectal Cancer Research Centre).

quality as part of its program for

medical faculties and university hospitals for a period of 4 years, extension. The selected centres support from the host institutions, the University of Oslo (Centre for Cancer Immunotherapy) or Oslo

66

NORWEGIAN CANCER GENOMICS CONSORTIUM

The establishment of Norwegian Cancer Genomics Consortium was recommended by the **Regional Health Authorities and** the Universities. The consortium includes research groups and University Hospitals, and its total basic funding is 75 million NOK received from the Norwegian **Research Council.**



CENTRE FOR CANCER BIOMEDICINE (CCB)

HEADED BY HARALD STENMARK AND RAGNHILD A. LOTHE



ABOUT

CCB was a Norwegian Centre of Excellence that was funded by the Research Council of Norway from 01.09.2007 to 31.08.2017. The centre's vision was to join cell biological research aimed at discovering new mechanisms in carcinogenesis and tumour suppression with translational cancer research focusing on discovery of novel molecular and phenotypic hallmarks of cancers that can be exploited in diagnostics, prognostics and therapy. Through collaboration with CCB's experts in biostatistics, this has indeed proven to be a fruitful strategy, and CCB scientists have made several discoveries and innovations that promise to be useful for future patients with lymphoma, colorectal cancer or prostate cancer.

AIMS

- Discovery of novel mechanisms in tumour suppression and cancer development
- Discovery of novel molecular and phenotypic hallmarks of cancers that can be exploited in cancer diagnostics, prognostics and therapy

PROJECTS

- Protein internalisation and signalling
- Cellular membrane dynamics
- Intracellular transport
- Cancer genetics
- Cancer epigenetics
- Cancer genomics
- Tumour heterogeneity and clonal expansion
- Cancer Biostatistics
- Advanced image analyses

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

CCB's interdisciplinary research strategy has continued to yield discoveries that will benefit the future cancer patient. A paper that received considerable attention came from PhD student Nadja Katheder in Tor Erik Rusten's CCB project group. Katheder, Rusten and their co-workers published in *Nature* that tumours instruct cells in their microenvironment to turn on autophagy, a cellular process that entails degradation of some of the cell's own proteins into amino acids. These amino acids are then transported back to the tumour as constituents of new cancer cell proteins. If this mechanism is inhibited, the tumour shrinks, which provides us with a new target for future cancer therapy. These findings were dedicated commentary articles in Cell Metabolism, Developmental Cell and Scientific Reports and were covered by the news on national TV. Another project leader in CCB, June Myklebust, has, in collaboration with

colleagues at Stanford revealed individual differences in B-cell receptor signalling in patients with non-Hodgkin's lymphomas that correlate with differences in therapy responses (published in *Blood*). Postdoc Hege Marie Vedeld and her co-workers in Guro E. Lind's CCB group have identified a specific DNA methylation phenotype that identifies high- risk patients among microsatellite stable BRAF mutated colorectal cancers (published in *International Journal of Cancer*). Researcher Anita Sveen and colleagues in Ragnhild A. Lothe's CCB group have analysed a large number of microsatellite-instable colorectal cancers and revealed molecular hetereogeneity with clinical relevance, including mutations that predict favourable prognosis (published in *Genome Medicine*).

CCB graduated 6 PhD candidates in the period of 01.01-31.08.2017 and published 51 articles, several of these in leading journals. During the whole 10-year centre period, CCB has graduated 61 PhD candidates and published 655 papers.

Even though CCB will not continue as a centre, key elements of CCB's research will be sustained in the form of other centres and projects. These include a new Centre of Excellence, Centre for Cancer Cell Reprogramming, KG Jebsen Colorectal Cancer Research Centre, KG Jebsen Centre for B-Cell Malignancies, Lighthouse project "DoMore", Toppforsk project "Modeling tumor htereogeneity in colorectal cancer", Toppforsk project "Deciphering tumor-host biology", and NANO2021 project "Biodegradable nanoparticles in cancer diagnosis and therapy".

EXECUTIVE GROUP (IN 2017):

Harald Stenmark, director Ragnhild A. Lothe, co-director Håvard E. Danielsen Knut Liestøl Kirsten Sandvig Guro E. Lind Erlend B. Smeland

ASSOCIATE PIS:

Sverre Heim Rolf I. Skotheim Antoni Wiedlocha

ASSOCIATE CLINICAL RESEARCHERS:

Arild Nesbakken Harald Holte Karol Axcrona



K.G. JEBSEN CENTER FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

HEADED BY JOHANNA OLWEUS



ABOUT

In the K.G. Jebsen Center for Cancer Immunotherapy (JCIT) hosted by the University of Oslo, five Norwegian and one Dutch research group have come together to find new immunotherapeutic strategies that overcome the major challenge of self-tolerance in cancer. JCIT was granted prolongation following the first 4-year period, throughout 2020. The partnering groups of JCIT span complementary competencies ranging from basic proteomics, cell signaling and T-cell receptor engineering to expertise in experimental clinical immunotherapy trials. This places the center in a unique position to pursue novel therapeutic opportunities, and the strong focus on translating therapeutic opportunities is a fundamental characteristic of ICIT. Results from basic research are pursued through the necessary translational steps to testing in patients, and in-depth mechanistic studies of patient material obtained in experimental clinical trials are performed with the aim of improved designs of immunotherapeutic strategies.

AIMS

Three principally distinct approaches are pursued in an interdisciplinary and translational program: 1. Use of T-cell and NK-cell based alloreactivity to overcome self-tolerance. 2. Identification and targeting of cancerspecific neo-antigens. 3. Enhancement of effector T-cell function by counteracting inhibitory mechanisms.

PROJECTS

- Epitope discovery to identify targets for immunotherapy
- Identify immune cells expressing immune receptors that recognize and kill cells that express the identified targets
- Molecular cloning, genetic transfer and profiling of immune receptors
- Enhance cytotoxic lymphocyte function by overcoming inhibitory mechanisms
- In vivo evaluation of immune modulating therapies

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

- Reported the first Phase I/II clinical trial based on transfer of allogeneic NK cells to patients with high-risk AML and MDS. *Clinical Cancer Research.*
- Partner Kjetil Taskén received King Olav Vs Prize for Cancer Research.
- Launched an intervention trial based on PGE₂ inhibition in metastatic colorectal cancer (2 x 400 pts)
- Launched Lymvac-2, combining intratumoral immunotherapy with anti-PD1 for treatment of patients with follicular lymphoma, in collaboration with Merck.
- Entered into partnership with Fate Therapeutics Inc. to develop off-the-shelf NK cell therapy.
- Joined forces with Kite Pharma to use her TCR technology for identification of therapeutic TCRs to defined targets.

Home page

http://www.med.uio.no/klinmed/english/research/ centres/kgj-cancer-immunotherapy/

Group leaders/ Steering committee Johanna Olweus (MD, PhD, Director), Dept of Cancer Immunology, Institute for Cancer Research, Oslo

University Hospital (OUH)-Radiumhospitalet and University of Oslo (UiO)

Karl-Johan Malmberg (MD, PhD, deputy Director), Dept of Cancer Immunology, Institute for Cancer Research, OUH-Radiumhospitalet and UiO

Arne Kolstad (MD, PhD), Dept of Oncology, OUH-Radiumhospitalet

Kjetil Taskén (MD, PhD), Institute for Cancer Research, Dept of Cancer Immunology, Centre for Molecular Medicine Norway, Nordic EMBL Partnership and Dept of Infectious Diseases, OUH

Fridtjof Lund-Johansen (MD, PhD), Dept of Immunology, OUH-Rikshospitalet

Ton Schumacher (PhD), The Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam



K.G. JEBSEN COLORECTAL CANCER RESEARCH CENTRE

HEADED BY RAGNHILD A. LOTHE



ABOUT

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is a major health burden, and the focus of our Centre is translational and clinical research to meet challenges in the management of the disease, including early detection and improved patient prognostication and treatment. The Centre is hosted by the Clinic for Cancer Medicine, Oslo University Hospital (OUH). The Centre PIs are also partners in the OUH SMART-Colorectal cancer priority area.

Home page: www.colorectalcancer.no

GROUP LEADERS/STEERING COMMITTEE

- **Professor Ragnhild A. Lothe** (MSc, PhD, leader), Dept. Molecular Oncology, Institute for Cancer Research, OUH and University of Oslo (UiO)
- **Professor Arild Nesbakken** (MD,PhD, deputy leader), Department of Gastrointestinal Surgery, OUH and Institute for Clinical Medicine, UiO
- Associate Professor Mette Kalager (MD, PhD), Institute of Health and Society, UiO, and Dept. Epidemiology, Harvard T.H.Chan School of Public Health, USA
- **Professor Rolf I. Skotheim** (MSc, PhD), Department of Molecular Oncology, Institute for Cancer Research, OUH
- Senior Consultant Marianne Guren (MD, PhD), Department of Oncology, OUH and Institute for Clinical Medicine, UiO

AIMS

Translate biomedical knowledge to improve the prevention and treatment of CRC by uniting a translational multidisciplinary research environment and following the patient through the course of the disease.

PROJECTS

- Effectiveness of screening and colonoscopy procedures
- Clinical and molecular biomarkers for improved risk stratification of patients
- Improved treatment efficacy from chemotherapy and/ or targeted drugs by biologically guided treatment
- Model tumor heterogeneity and clonal evolution to monitor early relapse and treatment failure
- Pharmacogenomics of the patients' own tumor cells for therapy guidance and prediction of response

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

In 2017, 34 peer reviewed papers related to CRC were published from the PI groups, and three PhDs were defended.

New insights into the effectiveness of CRC screening from long-term trials were published, including a low benefit from sigmoidoscopy for women older than 60 years (Holme et al., Brit Med J 2017), and reduced benefit and increased risk of adverse events from screening colonoscopy in elderly beneficiaries (Garcia-Albeniz et al., Ann Intern Med 2017). Benefiting from the national public health system and our collaboration with the Cancer Registry of Norway, the effect of preoperative chemoradiotherapy on reducing local recurrence rate, and trend towards increases survival, was demonstrated in a large population-based study (Åsli et al; Radiotherapy & Oncology 2017). We are currently assembling a national population-representative patient series withdrawn from diagnostic tumor material of 5,000 patients from all health regions. Tissue microarrays (TMA) will be used for multiplex biomarker studies.

Due to a recent FDA-approval, microsatellite instability (MSI) status currently receives much attention as a marker for response to immunotherapy in advanced cancers (May 2017). We discovered tumor heterogeneity with clinical relevance in MSI+ CRC, including molecular associations of resistance to anti-PD1 treatment conferred by *JAK1* mutations (Sveen *et al.*, Genome Med, 2017). Additional studies related to the clinical implications of tumor heterogeneity are ongoing in the Centre.

In our high throughput drug screening project more than 100 preclinical models have been included. In a pharmacogenomic study we combined gene expression subtyping and drug screening data from cell lines, and HSP90 inhibitors were identified as potent drugs in an aggressive subtype of CRC. A "xenotrial" of patientderived xenografts confirmed a potential to overcome chemoresistance in this subtype *in vivo*, encouraging clinical testing of HSP90 inhibitor combination therapy in CRC (Sveen^{*}, Bruun^{*} et al. Clin Cancer Res 2017). Ex vivo drug screening combined with genomics of multiple samples from resected CRC liver metastases is ongoing.

PATIENT ADVISORY BOARD

Our Centre has an active patient advisory board with the following members: Marianne Guriby, teacher, Lars Reed, engineer, Thorvald Stoltenberg, retired politician, and Jack Waitz, athlete coach.

CLINICAL TRANSLATION

Members of our Centre have participated in the European Society for Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) guideline panels for quality improvements of endoscopy in clinical use (Kaminsky M, et al. Endoscopy 2017).

The international clinical study KEYNOTE-177 evaluates immunotherapy (pembrolizumab) vs. chemotherapy for MSI metastatic CRC. We have participated in this study and patient inclusion is completed.

The international phase III study ARRAY-818-302 evaluates targeted combination therapies for BRAFmutated metastatic CRC. Together with Prof. Tabernero at VHIO, Barcelona, we have applied to conduct a bilateral translational substudy for treatment response prediction.



NORWEGIAN CANCER GENOMICS CONSORTIUM

HEADED BY OLA MYKLEBOST



ABOUT

The Norwegian Cancer Genomics Consortium (NCGC) is a group of oncologists and researchers from all health regions of Norway, who are collaborating to determine the potential of cancer genome analysis for prediction of therapeutic outcomes or selection of novel targeted therapies.

AIMS

Precision oncology, or personalized cancer medicine, is expected to provide huge benefits to the patients by better adapting the treatment, especially by targeted drugs, to the specific properties of the disease of the individual. The hope is that this will at least give prolonged survival and better quality of life, and at the same time reduce the morbidity, expense and wasted resources on unsuccessful treatments. A main obstacle is the difficulty to prove the efficacy in ever smaller patient groups, and thus the reluctance of the public health services to introduce the new treatments.

PROJECTS

- Exome sequencing and mutation profiling of nine selected cancer types
- Establishment and characterisation of relevant preclinical models
- Validation of novel targets in preclinical models
- Investigation of predisposing gene variants
- Establishing of national infrastructure for the storage and analysis of large-scale sensitive patient data
- Design of small-scale trials to identify potential of candidate drugs
- Develop decision support tools for pathologists and oncologists to better interpret genome diagnostic data for therapeutic interventions

The projects include the determination of the DNA sequence, the detailed structure, of all genes in the patient and the tumour, identification of mutations that reveal mechanistic insights or can suggest specific treatments. Trial-derived biobanks from melanomas, leukemias, sarcomas, and breast cancers are being investigated for predictive biomarkers, as are biobanks containing sarcomas, colon, prostate, myeloma, and lymphoma samples from standard-of-care treated patients. The leukemia trial investigated is from the first-in-man trial of an Axl inhibitor from BerGenBio. A prospective, population-based cohort of all Norwegian sarcoma patients for 3 years is being accrued (see NoSarC.no), and in addition to the 200 sample pairs exome sequenced by NCGC, about 150 additional pairs are being sequenced with additional funding from the Radium Hospital Legacy. Up to now approximately 1800 samples from 630 patients have been sequenced. Promising targets for which drugs are available, but without documentation of clinical effect in the cancers investigated, are tested pre-clinically in relevant cell

culture and xenograft models. The intention is to propose small, exploratory clinical trials to indicate activity in selected patients, and that promising results could lead to extension to phase II studies. Several trials are in progress by the partners.

The main hub of NCGC is at the ICR and its core facility for genomics, and five of the co-principal investigators are from the ICR. The other main nodes are at the University of Oslo, Haukeland University Hospital (Bergen), St Olav University Hospital (Trondheim), University Hospital of Northern Norway (Tromsø), and the University of Tromsø. The NCGC also has an ELSA work package, which addresses important societal issues including innovation, health economy, law and ethics, as well as professional and societal dialogue.

RECENT ACHIEVEMENTS

The data from the sequenced samples are currently being deeply investigated, and a number of preclinical studies in cell lines are under way. A database has been generated at 1000genomes.no with all the genetic variants (SNPs) detected in the germ lines (blood samples), and the frequencies in the cohort. Other environments are preparing to add Norwegian SNP data, which will be a valuable resource for many types of genetic research and diagnosis.

CLINICAL TRANSLATION

The project is investigating patient samples either prospectively collected, or being part of clinical trials, with the aim to gain biologically based clinical insight. Oncologists are strong partners. The detection of novel therapeutic targets and their evaluation in pre-clinical studies may have immediate clinical value. The team maintains a systematic professional outreach and dialogue, with continuous discussions on the strategies and how they may be implemented in the clinics at institutional meetings, external conferences and public meetings.

GROUP LEADERS/STEERING COMMITTEE

The project has a leader group consisting of Ola Myklebost (ICR, head), Ragnhild A Lothe (ICR), Harald Holte (KRE), Leonardo A Meza-Zepeda (ICR), Eivind Hovig (ICR), Per Eystein Lønning (HUS), Bjørn Tore Gjertsen (HUS), Anders Waage (St Olav US), Ole Morten Seternes (UiT), Tom Dønnem (UNN). Our Board consists of Erlend Smeland (OUH, Head), Jónas Einarsson (RF/ OCC), Hilde I. Nebb (UiO), Knut Martin Torgersen (Pfizer), Bjørn Gustafsson (StOlav/NTNU), Tove Flem Jacobsen (Link Medical), Olav Mella (HUS/UiB), Anne Sameline Grimsgaard (UNN/UiT).

see http://CancerGenomics.No

INTERNATIONAL **COLLABORATION**



AUSTRALIA

Garvan Institute, Sydney Kinghorn Cancer Centre, Sydney Monash University, Melbourne

AUSTRIA Medical University of Vienna, Vienna

BELGIUM

Catholic university of Brussels, Brussels Ghent University, Ghent Katholieke University Leuven, Leuven Universiteit Hasselt, Genk

CANADA

McGill University, Montreal Princess Margaret Hospital, Toronto University of Ottawa, Ottawa

CROATIA

University of Zagreb, Zagreb

CZECH REPUBLIC

Charles University, Prague Institute of Experimental Biology, Masaryk University, Brno Institute of Molecular Genetics, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, Prague National Institute of Public Health, Praque

DENMARK

Aalborg University Hospital, Aalborg Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen University of Southern Denmark, Odense

FINLAND Biomedicum Helsinki, University of

Helsinki Helsinki Finnish Institute of Molecular Medicine, Nordic EMBL partner, Helsinki Tampere University of Technology, Tampere Zora Oy, Espoo

FRANCE

Centre National de Génotypage, Paris EurOPDX - European Consortium on Patient-derived Xenografts, Paris Institut Gustave Roussy, Paris Institut National de la Sante et de la Recherche Medicale, Paris Institute Cürie Paris Institute of Systems and Synthetic Biology Genopole, UEVE, CNRS, Évry International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC), Lyon Université Lyon, Villeurbanne Université Paris-Sud, Orsay

GERMANY

Institut für Biochemie, University of Stuttgart, Stuttgart Institute of Physiology and Jacobs University, Bremen University of Bayreuth, Bayreuth University of Bochum, Bochum University of Cologne, Cologne University of Heidelberg, Heidelberg University of Marburg, Marburg

National and Kapodistrian University of Athens Athens National Centre for Scientific Research "Demokritos", Athens

EMBL, Heidelberg Pathophysiology, University of Mainz, Mainz

GREECE

University of Ioannina, Ioannina

HUNGARY University of Szeged, Szeged

ICELAND University of Iceland, Biomedical Center, Reykjavik

INDIA

Indian institute of Technology, Hyderabad Savitribai Phule Pune University, Pune

IRELAND

National Institute for Bioprocessing Research and Training (NIBRT), Dublin

ISRAEL

Technion - Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa

Weizmann Institute, Rehovot

ITALY FOM. Milan International School for Advanced Studies. Trieste Istituto Nationale di Tumori. Milano The Rizzoli Institute, Bologna University of Bologna, Bologna University of Padova, Padova University of Salento, Lecce

NORWAY

Cancer Registry of Norway, Oslo Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen Norwegian University of Life Sciences. Ås. Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger Trondheim University Hospital- St. Olavs Hosnital Trondheim University hospital of North Norway, Tromsø University of Bergen, Bergen University of Oslo, Oslo

POLAND Faculty of Biotechnology, University of Wroclaw, Wroclaw Jagiellonian University, Kraków University of Gdansk, Gdansk

PORTUGAL

Institute of Molecular Pathology and Immunology, University of Porto Portuguese Oncology Institute, Porto

RUSSIA Institute of Cytology and Genetics, Novosihirsk

SINGAPORE

Cancer Science Institute of Singapore, Singapore



SPAIN

CABIMER, University of Sevilla, Sevilla Centre for Biological Studies, Madrid Fundacion Instituto Valenciano de Oncologica (FIVO), Valencia ICGC, Technical validation group and Ivo Gut. Barcelona University of Lleida, Lleida University of Valencia, Valencia Universitat Politècnica de València, Valencia Vall d'Hebron Institute of Oncology, Barcelona

SWEDEN

Karolinska Institutet and University of Stockholm, Stockholm Lund University, Lund The Sahlgrenska Academy at the University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg Uppsala University Hospital, Uppsala

SWITZERLAND

University Hospital Zurich, Zurich

University of Tunis, Tunis UNITED KINGDOM Cambridge Cancer Institute, Cambridge Hampshire Hospitals/Southampton University Southampton London Research Institute, The Francis Crick Institute, London Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital, Stanmore, Middlesex The Beatson Institute for Cancer

Leiden University, Leiden

Amsterdam

TUNISIA

Netherlands Cancer Institute (NKI),

Radboud University Nijmegen, Nijmegen

University Medical Center, Groningen

VU Medical Center, Amsterdam

Research, Glasgow The European Bioinformatics Institute (EMBL-EBI), Hinxton University College London Medical School, UCL, London University of Cambridge, Cambridge University of Liverpool, Liverpool University of Oxford, Oxford Wellcome Sanger Institute, Hinxton

USA

Buck Institute for Research on Aging, Novato, California Dana Farber Cancer Institute, Boston, Massachusetts Dartmouth College, Hanover, New Hampshire Duke University Medical Center, Durham, North Carolina Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, Washington Georgetown University, Washington DC Harvard University, Boston, Massachusetts Johns Hopkins Medicine. Baltimore, Maryland Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, California Lineberger Comprehensive Cancer Center Chanel Hill North Carolina Masonic Cancer Center and University of Minnesota, Minneapolis Massachusetts General Hospital Boston, Massachusetts MD Anderson Comprehensive Cancer Center, Houston, Texas National Institutes of Health (NIH), Bethesda, Maryland

Oregon State University, Corvallis, Oregon Princeton University, New Jersey Rutgers Cancer Institute of New Jersey Stanford University, California The Mount Sinai Hospital, New York The University of Kansas Hospital. Kansas Tisch Cancer Institute, New York UCSF, Helen Diller Family Cancer Centre, San Francisco. California University of Albany, New York University of California Berkeley, California University of Chicago, Illinois University of Colorado, Denver, Colorado University of Illinois, Champaign, Illinois Washington University, St Louis, Missouri Weill Medical College of Cornell University, New York

RECENT INNOVATIONS

Registered Declaration of Inventions (DOFIs), Patent Applications and Granted Patents

2015

GRANTED PATENTS

New markers for cancer (INA). EP2474629B1. R.A. Lothe, G. E. Lind, R. I. Skotheim

New markers for cancer (SNCA). EP2474627B1. R.A. Lothe, G. E. Lind, R. I. Skotheim

New markers for cancer (SPG20). EP2474628B1. R.A. Lothe, G. E. Lind, R. I. Skotheim

New markers for cancer (SPG20). CN103014155B. R.A. Lothe, G. E. Lind, R. I. Skotheim

2016

PUBLISHED PATENT APPLICATIONS

Cancer biomarkers. WO 2016/113361A1. Llorente, T. Skotland, K. Sandvig, A. Øverbye.

GRANTED PATENTS

New markers for cancer (SPG20). JP5843840. R. A. Lothe, G. E. Lind, R.I. Skotheim

Methods and biomarkers for detection and prognosis of cervical cancer. US9506117. H. Lyng, C. Halle Julin

2017

NO. OF DOFIS: 7 (DOFIs 17011, 17032, 17039, 17135, 17137, 17141, 17179)

NO. OF UNPUBLISHED PATENT APPLICATIONS: 6 (DOFIs 15189, 16092, 16121, 16153, 17011, 17135)

GRANTED PATENTS

Methods and biomarkers for detection of bladder cancer. US9797016. G. E. Lind, R.A. Lothe, R.I. Skotheim

Methods and biomarkers for analysis of colorectal cancer. US9822417. R. A. Lothe, A. Sveen, T.H. Ågesen, G. E. Lind, A. Nesbakken, R. I. Skotheim

Methods and biomarkers for detection of gastrointestinal cancers. EP2683834B1. G. E. Lind, K. Andresen, R.I. Skotheim, R.A. Lothe

Biomarkers for subtypes of cervical cancer. US9809859. H. Lyng, M. Lando





PUBLICATIONS 2017

Abravan A, Knudtsen IS, Eide HA, Løndalen AM, **Helland Å**, van Luijk P, Malinen E(2017) A new method to assess pulmonary changes using 18F-fluoro-2-deoxyglucose positron emission tomography for lung cancer patients following radiotherapy Acta Oncol, 56(11), 1597-1603

Ailte I,Lingelem AB,Kvalvaag AS,Kavaliauskiene S,Brech A,Koster G.Dommersnes PG.Bergan J.Skotland T, Sandvig K(2017) Exogenous lysophospholipids with large head groups perturb clathrin-mediated endocytosis Traffic,18(3),176-191

Alves CP, Dey-Guha I, Kabraji S, Yeh AC, Talele NP, Solé X, Chowdhury J, Mino-Kenudson M,Loda M,Sgroi D,Borresen-Dale AL, Russnes HG, Ross KN, Ramaswamy S(2017) **AKT1low Quiescent Cancer Cells Promote Solid Tumor Growth**

Mol Cancer Ther, 17(1), 254-263

Anda S,Zach R,Grallert B(2017) Activation of Gcn2 in response to different stresses PLoS One,12(8),e0182143

Andersen LMK Wegner CS Simonsen TG,Huang R,Gaustad JV,Hauge A,Galappathi K,Rofstad EK(2017) Lymph node metastasis and the physicochemical micro-environment of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma xenografts Oncotarget,8(29),48060-48074

Andersson Y.Haavardtun SI.Davidson B.Dørum A.Fleten KG.Fodstad Ø.Flatmark K(2017) MOC31PE immunotoxin - targeting peritoneal metastasis from epithelial ovarian cancer Oncotarget,8(37),61800-61809

Andreassen R, Woldemariam NT, Egeland IØ, Agafonov O, Sindre H, Høyheim B(2017) Identification of differentially expressed Atlantic salmon miRNAs

(SAV) infection BMC Genomics,18(1),349

Arstad C, Refinetti P, Kristensen AT, Giercksky KE, Ekstrøm PO(2017) Is detection of intraperitoneal exfoliated tumor cells after surgical resection of rectal cancer a prognostic factor of survival? BMC Cancer, 17(1), 406

Aure MR. Vitelli V. Jernström S. Kumar S.Krohn M.Due EU.Haukaas TH.Leivonen SK.Vollan HK.Lüders T.Rødland E.Vaske CJ,Zhao W,Møller EK,Nord S,Giskeødegård GF,Bathen TF,Caldas C,Tramm T,Alsner J,Overgaard J,Geisler J,Bukholm IR,Naume B,Schlichting E, Kristensen **VN**, et al.(2017) Integrative clustering reveals a novel split in the luminal A subtype of breast cancer with impact on outcome

Breast Cancer Res, 19(1), 44

Azizi M, Ghourchian H, Yazdian F, Bagherifam S.Bekhradnia S.Nyström B(2017) Anti-cancerous effect of albumin coated silver nanoparticles on MDA-MB 231 human breast cancer cell line Sci Rep,7(1),5178

Bakke KM, Hole KH, Dueland S, Grøholt KK,Flatmark K, Ree AH, Seierstad T, Redalen KR(2017) Diffusion-weighted magnetic resonance imaging of rectal cancer: tumour volume and perfusion fraction predict chemoradiotherapy response and survival Acta Oncol, 56(6), 813-818

Balasiddaiah A, Davanian H, Aleman S.Pasetto A.Frelin L.Sällberg M.Lohmann V.Koh S.Bertoletti A.Chen M(2017) Hepatitis C Virus-Specific T Cell Receptor mRNA-Engineered Human T **Cells: Impact of Antigen Specificity** on Functional Properties J Virol,91(9)

Barfeld SJ, Urbanucci A, Itkonen HM, Fazli L, Hicks JL, Thiede B, Rennie PS, Yegnasubramanian S, DeMarzo AM, Mills IG (2017)

responding to salmonid alphavirus

c-Mvc Antagonises the Transcriptional Activity of the Androgen Receptor in Prostate Cancer Affecting **Key Gene Networks** EBioMedicine,18,83-93

Behjati S, Tarpey PS, Haase K, Ye H, Young MD, Alexandrov LB, Farndon SJ, Collord G,Wedge DC,Martincorena I,Cooke SL, Davies H, Mifsud W, Lidgren M, Martin S.Latimer C.Maddison M.Butler AP.Teague JW.Pillav N.Shlien A.McDermott U.Futreal PA, Baumhoer D, Zaikova Oet al. (2017) **Recurrent mutation of IGF signal**ling genes and distinct patterns of genomic rearrangement in osteosarcoma

Nat Commun, 8, 15936

Behnan J, Stangeland B, Hosainey SA, Joel M, Olsen TK, Micci F, Glover JC, Isakson P, Brinchmann JE (2017) **Differential propagation of stroma** and cancer stem cells dictates tumorigenesis and multipotency. Oncogene 26;36(4):570-584.

Berg KCG Eide PW Eilertsen IA Johannessen B.Bruun J.Danielsen SA Bjørnslett M.Meza-Zepeda LA, Eknæs M, Lind GE, Myklebost **O**,**Skotheim RI**,**Sveen A**,**Lothe RA**(2017) Multi-omics of 34 colorectal cancer cell lines - a resource for biomedical studies

Mol Cancer, 16(1), 116

Bilir B, Sharma NV, Lee J, Hammarstrom **B**,Svindland A,Kucuk O,Moreno CS(2017) Effects of genistein supplementation on genomewide DNA methylation and gene expression in patients with localized prostate cancer Int J Oncol,51(1),223-234

Biørklund SS.Panda A.**Kumar S**.Seiler M.Robinson D.Gheeva J.Yao M.Alnæs **GIG**, Toppmeyer D, Riis M, Naume B, **Børre**sen-Dale AL, Kristensen VN, Ganesan S,Bhanot G(2017)

Widespread alternative exon usage in clinically distinct subtypes of Invasive Ductal Carcinoma Sci Rep,7(1),5568

Bollum LK.Huse K.Oksvold MP.Bai B,Hilden VI,Forfang L,Yoon SO,Wälchli S.Smeland EB.Myklebust JH(2017) BMP-7 induces apoptosis in human germinal center B cells and is influenced by TGF-β receptor type I ALK5 PLoS One,12(5),e0177188

Boye E, Skotland T, Østerud B, Nissen-Meyer J (2017) Doping and drug testing: Anti-doping work must be transparent and ad-

here to good scientific practices to ensure public trust EMBO Rep, 18 (3), 351-354

Brustugun OT. Sprauten M. Helland Å. Real-world data on nivolumab treatment of non-small cell lung cancer. Acta Oncol 2017; 56: 438–40

Braadland PR, Giskeødegård G, Sandsmark E,Bertilsson H,Euceda LR,Hansen AF, Guldvik IJ, Selnæs KM, Grytli HH, Katz B, Svindland A, Bathen TF, Eri LM, Nygård S,Berge V, Taskén KA, Tessem MB(2017) Ex vivo metabolic fingerprinting identifies biomarkers predictive of prostate cancer recurrence following radical prostatectomy Br J Cancer, 117(11), 1656-1664

Bus MP.Szafranski A.Sellevold S.Gorvn T,Jutte PC,Bramer JA,Fiocco M,Streitbürger A.Kotrych D.van de Sande MA.Diikstra PD(2017) LUMiC[®] Endoprosthetic Reconstruction After Periacetabular Tumor Resection: Short-term Results Clin Orthop Relat Res, 475(3), 686-695

Byrne AT, Alférez DG, Amant F, Annibali D, Arribas J, Biankin AV, Bruna A, Budinská E,Caldas C,Chang DK,Clarke RB,Clevers H,Coukos G,Dangles-Marie V,Eckhardt SG,Gonzalez-Suarez E,Hermans E,Hidalgo M, Jarzabek MA, de Jong S, Jonkers J,Kemper K,Lanfrancone L,Mælandsmo **GM**, Marangoni Eet al. (2017) Interrogating open issues in cancer precision medicine with patient-derived xenografts Nat Rev Cancer, 17(4), 254-268

Cambier S, Røgeberg M, Georgantzopoulou A, Serchi T, Karlsson C, Verhaegen S, Iversen TG, Guignard C, Kruszewski M, Hoffmann L,Audinot JN,Ropstad E,Gutleb AC(2017) Fate and effects of silver nanoparticles on early life-stage development of zebrafish (Danio rerio) in compari-

son to silver nitrate Sci Total Environ.610-611.972-982

Chen H, Ewing CM, Zheng S, Grindedaal EM, Cooney KA, Wiley K, Djurovic S, Andreassen OA, Axcrona K, Mills IG, Xu J, Maehle L.Fosså SD.Isaacs WB(2017) Genetic factors influencing prostate cancer risk in Norwegian men Prostate,78(3),186-192

Cheng J, Demeulemeester J, Wedge DC,Vollan HKM,Pitt JJ,Russnes HG,Pandev BP.Nilsen G.**Nord S**.Bignell GR.White KP.Børresen-Dale AL.Campbell PJ,Kristensen VN,Stratton MR,Lingjærde OC, Moreau Y, Van Loo P(2017) Pan-cancer analysis of homozygous deletions in primary tumours uncovers rare tumour suppressors Nat Commun,8(1),1221

Christie C, Pomeroy A, Nair R, Berg K,Hirschberg H(2017) Photodynamic therapy enhances the efficacy of gene-directed enzyme prodrug therapy Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 18, 140-148

Chymkowitch P, Enserink JM(2017) Regulation of tRNA synthesis by posttranslational modifications of **RNA** polymerase III subunits Biochim Biophys Acta(EPub)

Chymkowitch P,Nguéa P A,Aanes H,Robertson J,Klungland A,Enserink JM(2017) TORC1-dependent sumoylation of **Rpc82 promotes RNA polymerase III** assembly and activity Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A,114(5),1039-1044

Chymkowitch P.P AN. Aanes H.Koehler CJ.Thiede B.Lorenz S.Meza-Zepeda LA,Klungland A,Enserink JM(2017) **Corrigendum: Sumoylation of Rap1** mediates the recruitment of TFIID to promote transcription of ribosomal protein genes Genome Res,27(2),334

Clancy T, Dannenfelser R, Troyanskaya 0.Malmberg KJ Hovig E Kristensen **VN**(2017) **Bioinformatics Approaches to Profile** the Tumor Microenvironment for Immunotherapeutic Discovery Curr Pharm Des.23(32).4716-4725

Cui XY.Skretting G.Tinholt M.Stavik B,Dahm AEA, Sahlberg KK,Kanse S,Ivers-

en N.Sandset PM(2017)

A novel hypoxia response element regulates oxygen-related repression of tissue factor pathway inhibitor in the breast cancer cell line MCF-7 Thromb Res, 157, 111-116

Dannenfelser R, Nome M, Tahiri A, Ursini-Siegel J, Vollan HKM, Haakensen VD,**Helland Å**,Naume B,Caldas C,**Børre**sen-Dale AL, Kristensen VN, Troyanskaya OG(2017) Data-driven analysis of immune infiltrate in a large cohort of breast cancer and its association with disease progression, ER activity, and genomic complexity Oncotarget.8(34).57121-57133

Davies H, Glodzik D, Morganella S, Yates LR.Staaf J.Zou X.Ramakrishna M.Martin S,Boyault S,Sieuwerts AM,Simpson PT,King TA,Raine K,Eyfjord JE,Kong G,Borg Å,Birney E,Stunnenberg HG,van de Vijver MJ, Børresen-Dale AL, Martens JW,Span PN,Lakhani SR,Vincent-Salomon A.Sotiriou Cet al.(2017) **HRDetect is a predictor of BRCA1 and** BRCA2 deficiency based on mutational signatures Nat Med,23(4),517-525

Davies H, Morganella S, Purdie CA, Jang SJ.Borgen E.**Russnes H**.Glodzik D.Zou X.Viari A.Richardson AL.Børresen-Dale AL, Thompson A, Eyfjord JE, Kong G, Stratton MR.Nik-Zainal S(2017) Whole-Genome Sequencing Reveals **Breast Cancers with Mismatch Re**pair Deficiency

Cancer Res,77(18),4755-4762

Dienstmann R, Mason MJ, Sinicrope FA, Phipps AI, Tejpar S, Nesbakken A.Danielsen SA.Sveen A.Buchanan DD,Clendenning M,Rosty C,Bot B,Alberts SR,Milburn Jessup J,Lothe RA,Delorenzi M,Newcomb PA,Sargent D,Guinney J(2017) Prediction of overall survival in stage II and III colon cancer beyond TNM system: a retrospective, pooled biomarker study Ann Oncol, 28(5), 1023-1031

Domanska D, Vodák D, Lund-Andersen C,Salvatore S,Hovig E,Sandve GK(2017) The rainfall plot: its motivation, characteristics and pitfalls BMC Bioinformatics,18(1),264

Dukic AR, Haugen LH, Pidoux G, Leithe

E.Bakke O.Taskén K(2017)

A protein kinase A-ezrin complex regulates connexin 43 gap junction communication in liver epithelial cells Cell Signal.32.1-11

Dumeaux V, Fjukstad B, Fjosne HE, Frantzen JO,Holmen MM,Rodegerdts E,Schlichting E,Børresen-Dale AL,Bongo LA, Lund E, Hallett M(2017) Interactions between the tumor and the blood systemic response of breast cancer patients PLoS Comput Biol,13(9),e1005680

Egeland EV, Boye K, Park D, Synnestvedt M,Sauer T,Oslo Breast Cancer Consortium (OSBREAC), Naume B.Borgen E. Mælandsmo GM(2017)

Prognostic significance of S100A4-expression and subcellular localization in early-stage breast cancer

Breast Cancer Res Treat, 162(1), 127-137

Egger B,Bachmann L,Fromm B(2017) Atp8 is in the ground pattern of flatworm mitochondrial genomes BMC Genomics.18(1),414

Eide N.Fave RS.Høifødt HK.Sandvik L.Ovale GA.Faber R.Jebsen P.Kvalheim G.Fodstad Ø(2017)

The Results of Stricter Inclusion Criteria in an Immunomagnetic Detection Study of Micrometastatic Cells in Bone Marrow of Uveal Melanoma Patients - Relevance for Dormancy Pathol Oncol Res(EPub)

Eide PW.Bruun J.Lothe RA.Sveen **∆**(2017)

CMScaller: an R package for consensus molecular subtyping of colorectal cancer pre-clinical models Sci Rep,7(1),16618

Ellingiord-Dale M.Vos L.Hierkind KV, Hjartåker A, Russnes HG, Tretli S.Hofvind S.Dos-Santos-Silva I.Ursin G(2017)

Alcohol, Physical Activity, Smoking, and Breast Cancer Subtypes in a Large, Nested Case-Control Study from the Norwegian Breast Cancer Screening Program Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 26(12), 1736-1744

Endzelinš E, Berger A, Melne V, Bajo-Santos C.Sobolevska K.Ābols A.**Rodriguez** M.Šantare D.Rudnickiha A.Lietuvietis V.Llorente A.Linē A(2017) Detection of circulating miRNAs: comparative analysis of extracellular vesicle-incorporated miRNAs and cell-free miRNAs in whole plasma of prostate cancer patients BMC Cancer, 17(1), 730

Engkvist ME Stratford EW Lorenz S.Meza-Zepeda LA.Mvklebost **O**,**Munthe E**(2017) Analysis of the miR-34 family functions in breast cancer reveals annotation error of miR-34b Sci Rep.7(1),9655

Enserink JM(2017) **Regulation of Cellular Processes by** SUMO: Understudied Topics Adv Exp Med Biol,963,89-97

Euceda LR, Haukaas TH, Giskeodegard GF, Vettukattil R, Engel J, Silwal-Pandit L,Lundgren S,Borgen E,Garred O,Postma G, Buydens LMC, Borresen-Dale AL, Engebraaten O.Bathen TF(2017) **Evaluation of metabolomic changes** during neoadjuvant chemotherapy combined with bevacizumab in breast cancer using MR spectroscopy Metabolomics,13(4),37

Fleischer T, Klajic J, Aure MR, Louhimo R,**Pladsen AV**,**Ottestad L**,Touleimat N,Laakso M,Halvorsen AR,Grenaker Alnæs GI.Rijs ML.Helland Å.Hautaniemi S,Lønning PE,Naume B,**Børresen-Dale** AL, Tost J, Kristensen VN(2017) DNA methylation signature (SAM40) identifies subgroups of the Luminal A breast cancer samples with distinct survival Oncotarget,8(1),1074-1082

Fleischer T, Tekpli X, Mathelier A, Wang S,Nebdal D,Dhakal HP,Sahlberg **KK**, Schlichting E, Oslo Breast Cancer Research Consortium (OSBREAC), Børresen-Dale AL, Borgen E, Naume B, Eskeland R, Frigessi A, Tost J, Hurtado A, Kristensen VN(2017) DNA methylation at enhancers identifies distinct breast cancer lineages Nat Commun,8(1),1379

Flem-Karlsen K, Tekle C, Andersson Y.Flatmark K.Fodstad Ø.Nunes-Xavier **CE**(2017)

Immunoregulatory protein B7-H3 promotes growth and decreases sensitivity to therapy in metastatic melanoma cells

Pigment Cell Melanoma Res. 30(5), 467-476

Flåtten I, Helgesen E, Pedersen IB,Waldminghaus T,Rothe C, Taipale R, Johnsen L, Skarstad K(2017) Phenotypes of dnaXE145A Mutant **Cells Indicate that the Escherichia** coli Clamp Loader Has a Role in the **Restart of Stalled Replication Forks** J Bacteriol, 199(24)

Fosdahl AM, Dietrich M. Schink KO. Malik MS.Skeie M.Bertelsen V.Stang E(2017) ErbB3 interacts with Hrs and is sorted to lysosomes for degradation Biochim Biophys Acta, 1864(12), 2241-2252

Fromm B, Ovchinnikov V, Høye E, Bernal D.Hackenberg M.Marcilla A(2017) On the presence and immunoregulatory functions of extracellular microRNAs in the trematode Fasciola hepatica

Parasite Immunol, 39(2)

Frøysnes IS, Andersson Y, Larsen SG.Davidson B.Øien JT.Olsen KH.Giercksky KE.Julsrud L.Fodstad Ø.Dueland S.Flatmark K(2017) Novel Treatment with Intraperitoneal MOC31PE Immunotoxin in Colorectal Peritoneal Metastasis: Results From the ImmunoPeCa Phase 1 Trial Ann Surg Oncol,24(7),1916-1922

Gansmo LB, Bjørnslett M, Halle MK, Salvesen HB.Romundstad P.Hveem K.Vatten L.Dørum A,Lønning PE,Knappskog S(2017) MDM2 promoter polymorphism del1518 (rs3730485) and its impact on endometrial and ovarian cancer risk BMC Cancer, 17(1), 97

Gaustad JV, Simonsen TG, Andersen LM,Rofstad EK(2017) The Effect of Sunitinib Treatment in Human Melanoma Xenografts: Associations with Angiogenic Profiles Transl Oncol, 10(2), 158-167

Gaustad JV, Simonsen TG, Andersen LMK,Rofstad EK(2017) Antiangiogenic agents targeting different angiogenic pathways have opposite effects on tumor hypoxia in R-18 human melanoma xenografts BMC Cancer.17(1).411

Gaustad JV.Simonsen TG.Andersen LMK.Rofstad EK(2017) Vascular abnormalities and development of hypoxia in microscopic melanoma xenografts J Transl Med, 15(1), 241

Gaware VS, Håkerud M, Juzeniene A, Høgset A, Berg K, Másson M(2017) Endosome Targeting meso-Tetraphenylchlorin-Chitosan Nanoconjugates for Photochemical Internalization

Biomacromolecules, 18(4), 1108-1126

Gederaas OA, Johnsson A, Berg K.Manandhar R.Shrestha C.Skåre D.Ekroll IK, Høgset A, Hjelde A(2017) Photochemical internalization in bladder cancer - development of an orthotopic in vivo model Photochem Photobiol Sci,16(11),1664-1676

Gil Del Alcazar CR.Huh SJ.Ekram MB, Trinh A, Liu LL, Beca F, Zi X, Kwak M,Bergholtz H,Su Y,Ding L,Russnes HG, Richardson AL, Babski K, Min Hui Kim E,McDonnell CH,Wagner J,Rowberry R.Freeman GJ.Dillon D.Sorlie T.Coussens LM.Garber JE.Fan R.Bobolis Ket al.(2017) Immune Escape in Breast Cancer **During In Situ to Invasive Carcinoma** Transition

Cancer Discov,7(10),1098-1115

Glodzik D, Morganella S, Davies H, Simpson PT,Li Y,Zou X,Diez-Perez J,Staaf J,Alexandrov LB.Smid M.Brinkman AB.**Rve** IH, Russnes H, Raine K, Purdie CA, Lakhani SR, Thompson AM, Birney E, Stunnenberg HG,van de Vijver MJ,Martens JW,Børresen-Dale AL, Richardson AL, Kong G, Viari Aet al.(2017)

A somatic-mutational process recurrently duplicates germline susceptibility loci and tissue-specific super-enhancers in breast cancers Nat Genet, 49(3), 341-348

Graudenzi A,Cava C,Bertoli G, Fromm **B**,**Flatmark K**,Mauri G,Castiglioni I(2017) Pathwav-based classification of breast cancer subtypes Front. Biosci., 22, 1697-1712

Guo Q, Burgess S, Turman C, Bolla MK,Wang Q,Lush M,Abraham J,Aittomäki K,Andrulis IL,Apicella C,Arndt V,Barrdahl M,Benitez J,Berg CD,Blomgvist C,Bojesen SE,Bonanni B,Brand JS,Brenner H,Broeks A, Burwinkel B, Caldas C, Campa D, Canzian

F, Chang-Claude J, Kristensen VN, et al.(2017)

Body mass index and breast cancer survival: a Mendelian randomization analysis

Int J Epidemiol, 46(6), 1814-1822

Guren TK, Thomsen M, **Kure EH**, Sorbye H,Glimelius B,Pfeiffer P,Österlund P,Sigurdsson F,Lothe IMB,Dalsgaard AM,Skovlund E,Christoffersen T,Tveit KM(2017) Cetuximab in treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer: final survival analyses and extended RAS data from the NORDIC-VII study Br J Cancer.116(10).1271-1278

Halldorsson S, Rohatgi N, Magnusdottir M,Choudhary KS,Gudjonsson T,Knutsen E, Barkovskaya A, Hilmarsdottir B.Perander M.Mælandsmo GM.Gudmundsson S,Rolfsson Ó(2017) Metabolic re-wiring of isogenic breast epithelial cell lines following epithelial to mesenchymal transition Cancer Lett, 396, 117-129

Halvorsen AR, Kristensen G, Embleton A.Adusei C.Barretina-Ginesta MP.Beale P.**Helland Å**(2017) **Evaluation of Prognostic and Predic**tive Significance of Circulating MicroRNAs in Ovarian Cancer Patients Dis Markers.2017.3098542

Halvorsen AR, **Helland Å**, Gromov P, Wielenga VT, Talman MM, Brunner N, Sandhu V, Børresen-Dale AL, Gromova I. Haakensen VD. Profiling of microRNAs in tumor interstitial fluid of breast tumors - a novel resource to identify biomarkers for prognostic classification and

detection of cancer. Mol Oncol 2017: 11: 2220-34.

Hardes K, Ivanova T, Thaa B, McInerney GM.Klokk TI.Sandvig K.Künzel S.Lindberg I, Steinmetzer T(2017) Elongated and Shortened Peptidomimetic Inhibitors of the Proprotein **Convertase Furin** ChemMedChem,12(8),613-620

Hauge A, Wegner CS, Gaustad JV, Simonsen TG Andersen LMK Rofstad EK(2017) Diffusion-weighted MRI-derived ADC

values reflect collagen I content in PDX models of uterine cervical cancer

Oncotarget,8(62),105682-105691

Hauge A, Wegner CS, Gaustad JV, Simonsen TG,Andersen LMK,Rofstad EK(2017)

DCE-MRI of patient-derived xenograft models of uterine cervix carcinoma: associations with parameters of the tumor microenvironment J Transl Med, 15(1), 225

Hauge S, Naucke C, Hasvold G, Joel M.Rødland GE, Juzenas P.Stokke T.Svliuåsen RG(2017) Combined inhibition of Weel and Chk1 gives synergistic DNA damage in S-phase due to distinct regulation of CDK activity and CDC45 loading Oncotarget,8(7),10966-10979

Helland T, Henne N, Bifulco E, Naume B,Borgen E,Kristensen VN,Kvaløy JT.Lash TL.Alnæs GIG.van Schaik RH.Janssen EAM.Hustad S.Lien EA.Mellgren G,Søiland H(2017) Serum concentrations of active tamoxifen metabolites predict longterm survival in adjuvantly treated breast cancer patients Breast Cancer Res, 19(1), 125

Helland Å Brustugun OT.Nakken S.Halvorsen AR.Dønnem T.Bremnes R.Busund LT.Sun J.Lorenz S.Solberg SK, Jørgensen LH, Vodak D, Myklebost O,Hovig E,Meza-Zepeda LA(2017) High number of kinome-mutations in non-small cell lung cancer is associated with reduced immune response and poor relapse-free survival Int J Cancer, 141(1), 184-190

Henriksen EK, Jørgensen KK, Kaveh F, Holm K, Hamm D, Olweus J, Melum E, Chung BK, Eide TJ, Lundin KE, Boberg KM, Karlsen TH, Hirschfield GM, Liaskou E (2016)

Gut and liver T-cells of common clonal origin in primary sclerosing cholangitis-inflammatory bowel disease J Hepatol, 66 (1), 116-122

Hessvik NP, Llorente A(2017) Current knowledge on exosome biogenesis and release Cell Mol Life Sci,75(2),193-208

Hilmarsdottir B.Briem E.Halldorsson S.Kricker J.Inothorsson S.Gustafsdottir S,Mælandsmo GM, Magnusson MK, Gudionsson T(2017)

Inhibition of PTP1B disrupts cellcell adhesion and induces anoikis in breast epithelial cells Cell Death Dis,8(5),e2769

Holm KL, Syljuåsen RG, Hasvold

G.Alsøe L.Nilsen H.Ivanauskiene K.Collas P.Shaposhnikov S.Collins A.Indrevær RL, Aukrust P, Fevang B, Blomhoff HK (2017) **TLR9 stimulation of B-cells induces** transcription of p53 and prevents spontaneous and irradiation-induced cell death independent of DNA damage responses. Implications for Common variable immunodeficiency PLoS One,12(10),e0185708

Hompland I, Bruland ØS, Hølmebakk T,Poulsen JP,Stoldt S,Hall KS,Boye K(2017) Prediction of long-term survival in patients with metastatic gastrointestinal stromal tumor: analysis of a large, single-institution cohort Acta Oncol.56(10).1317-1323

Hong Z, Pedersen NM, Wang L, Torgersen ML, Stenmark H, Raiborg C(2017) PtdIns3P controls mTORC1 signaling through lysosomal positioning J Cell Biol, 216(12), 4217-4233

Huang R, Andersen LMK, Rofstad EK(2017) Metastatic pathway and the micro-

vascular and physicochemical microenvironments of human melanoma xenografts J Transl Med, 15(1), 203

Huang R,Rofstad EK(2017) Cancer stem cells (CSCs), cervical CSCs and targeted therapies Oncotarget,8(21),35351-35367

Inderberg EM, Mensali N, Oksvold **MP**, Fallang LE, Fåne A, Skorstad G, Stenvik GE, Progida C, Bakke O, Kvalheim G, Myklebust JH, Wälchli S(2017) Human c-SRC kinase (CSK) overexpression makes T cells dummy Cancer Immunol Immunother(EPub)

Inderberg EM, Wälchli S, Myhre MR. Trachsel S. Almåsbak H. Kvalheim G.Gaudernack G(2017) T cell therapy targeting a public neoantigen in microsatellite instable

colon cancer reduces in vivo tumor arowth

Oncoimmunology.6(4).e1302631

Itkonen HM, Brown M, Urbanucci A, Tredwell G.Ho Lau C.Barfeld S.Hart C.Guldvik IJ.Takhar M.Heemers HV.Erho N.Bloch K, Davicioni E, Derua R, Waelkens E, Mohler JL,Clarke N,Swinnen JV,Keun HC,Rekvig OP.Mills IG(2017) Lipid degradation promotes prostate cancer cell survival

Jernström S, Hongisto V, Leivonen SK, Due EU. Tadele DS. Edgren H. Kallioniemi O,Perälä M, Mælandsmo GM, Sahlberg **KK**(2017) Drug-screening and genomic analyses of HER2-positive breast cancer cell lines reveal predictors for treatment response

Kristensen VN. et al.(2017) PHIP - a novel candidate breast can-Oncotarget.8(61).102769-102782

Josefsson SE, Huse K, Kolstad A, Beiske K,Pende D,Steen CB,Inderberg EM,Lingjærde OC,Østenstad B,Smeland EB,Levy R,Irish JM,**Myklebust JH**(2017) **T Cells Expressing Checkpoint Re**ceptor TIGIT Are Enriched in Follicular Lymphoma Tumors and Characterized by Reversible Suppression of T-cell Receptor Signaling Clin Cancer Res(EPub)

Ju YS, Martincorena I, Gerstung M, Petljak M,Alexandrov LB,Rahbari R,Wedge DC,Davies HR,Ramakrishna M,Fullam A,Martin S,Alder C,Patel N,Gamble S,O'Meara S,Giri DD, Sauer T, Pinder SE, Purdie CA, Borg Å, Stunnenberg H, van de Vijver M, Tan BK,Caldas C,Tutt Aet al.(2017) Somatic mutations reveal asymmetric cellular dynamics in the early human embryo Nature,543(7647),714-718

Oncotarget,8(24),38264-38275

Breast Cancer (Dove Med Press),9,185-198

Jiao X, Aravidis C, Marikkannu R, Rantala J,Picelli S,Adamovic T,Liu T,Maguire P,Kremeyer B,Luo L,von Holst S,Kontham V, Thutkawkorapin J, Margolin S, Du O.Lundin J.Michailidou K.Bolla MK.Wang Q, Dennis J, Lush M, Ambrosone CB, Andrulis IL.Anton-Culver H.Antonenkova NN.

cer susceptibility locus on 6q14.1

Kanduri C, Domanska D, Hovig E, Sandve GK(2017)

Genome build information is an essential part of genomic track files Genome Biol.18(1).175

Karpanen T, Olweus J(2017) The Potential of Donor T-Cell Repertoires in Neoantigen-Targeted Cancer Immunotherapy Front Immunol, 8, 1718

Karpanen T, Padberg Y, van de Pavert SA.Dierkes C.Morooka N.Peterson-Maduro J.van de Hoek G.Adrian M.Mochizuki N,Sekiguchi K,Kiefer F,Schulte D,Schulte-Merker S(2017)

An Evolutionarily Conserved Role for Polydom/Svep1 During Lymphatic **Vessel Formation** Circ Res,120(8),1263-1275

Katheder NS Khezri R.O'Farrell F.Schultz SW.Jain A.Rahman MM.Schink KO.Theodossiou TA.Johansen T.Juhász G.Bilder D.Brech A.Stenmark H, Rusten TE(2017) Microenvironmental autophagy promotes tumour growth Nature,541(7637),417-420

Katheder NS. Rusten TE (2017) **Microenvironment and tumors-a** nurturing relationship Autophagy, 13 (7), 1241-1243

Kavaliauskiene S, Dyve Lingelem AB, Skotland T, Sandvig K(2017) **Protection against Shiga Toxins** Toxins (Basel),9(2)

Khan A, Mathelier A(2017) Intervene: a tool for intersection and visualization of multiple gene or genomic region sets BMC Bioinformatics.18(1).287

Kivinummi K. Urbanucci A. Leinonen K,Tammela TLJ,Annala M,Isaacs WB,Bova GS,Nykter M,Visakorpi T(2017) The expression of AURKA is androgen regulated in castration-resistant prostate cancer Sci Rep,7(1),17978

Kolberg M, Bruun J, Murumägi A, Mpindi JP,Bergsland CH,Høland M,Eilertsen IA, Danielsen SA, Kallioniemi O, Lothe **RA**(2017)

Drug sensitivity and resistance testing identifies PLK1 inhibitors and gemcitabine as potent drugs for malignant peripheral nerve sheath tumors

Mol Oncol,11(9),1156-1171

Kristian A, Holtedahl JE, Torheim T,Futsaether C,Hernes E, Engebraaten **O, Mælandsmo GM**, Malinen E(2017) Dynamic 2-Deoxy-2-[18F]Fluoro-D-Glucose Positron Emission Tomography for Chemotherapy Response Monitoring of Breast Cancer Xenografts Mol Imaging Biol, 19(2), 271-279

Kristensen VN (2017) The Antigenicity of the Tumor Cell -**Context Matters** N Engl J Med, 376 (5), 491-493

Landfors M, Johansen J, Aronsen JM, Vågbø CB,Doré LC,He C,Sjaastad I,Sætrom P.Fedorcsák P.Dahl JA.Aanes H.**Fußer** M,Klungland A(2017) Genome-wide profiling of DNA 5-hydroxymethylcytosine during rat Sertoli cell maturation Cell Discov.3.17013

Landskron J, Kraggerud SM, Wik E.Dørum A.Biørnslett M.Melum E.Helland Ø, Bjørge L, Lothe RA, Salvesen HB, Taskén K(2017) C77G in PTPRC (CD45) is no risk allele for ovarian cancer, but associated with less aggressive disease PLoS One,12(7),e0182030

Laurberg T.Tramm T.Nielsen T.Alsner J,Nord S,Myhre S,Sørlie T,Leung S,Fan C,Perou C,Gelmon K,Overgaard J,Voduc D,Prat A,Cheang MCU(2017) Intrinsic subtypes and benefit from postmastectomy radiotherapy in node-positive premenopausal breast cancer patients who received adjuvant chemotherapy - results from two independent randomized trials Acta Oncol.57(1).38-43

Leithe E, Mesnil M, Aasen T(2017) The connexin 43 C-terminus: A tail of many tales Biochim Biophys Acta, 1860(1), 48-64

Lerov B.Ballinger ML.Baran-Marszak F.Bond GL.Braithwaite A.Concin N.Donehower LA, El-Deiry WS, Fenaux P, Gaidano G, Langerød A, Hellstrom-Lindberg

E,Iggo R,Lehmann-Che J,Mai PL,Malkin D.Moll UM.Myers JN.Nichols KE.Pospisilova S.Ashton-Prolla P.Rossi D.Savage SA.Strong LC.Tonin PNet al.(2017) **Recommended Guidelines for Valida**tion, Quality Control, and Reporting of TP53 Variants in Clinical Practice Cancer Res,77(6),1250-1260

Li A, Andersen E, Lervåg C, Julin CH, Lyng H, Hellebust TP, Malinen E. Dynamic contrast enhanced magnetic resonance imaging for hypoxia mapping and potential for brachytherapy targeting. Physics & Imaging in Radiation Oncology, 2, 1-6, 2017.

Li X, Grigalavicius M, Li Y, Li X, Zhong Y, Huang R, Yu D, Berge V, Goscinski MA, Kvalheim G, Nesland JM, Suo Z(2017) MtDNA depletion influences the transition of CD44 subtypes in human prostate cancer DU145 cells Tumour Biol, 39(8), 1010428317713671

Li X,Lu J,Kan Q,Li X,Fan Q,Li Y,Huang R,Slipicevic A,Dong HP,Eide L,Wang J, Zhang H, Berge V, Goscinski MA, Kvalheim G,Nesland JM,Suo Z(2017) Metabolic reprogramming is associated with flavopiridol resistance in prostate cancer DU145 cells Sci Rep,7(1),5081

Li X, Zhong Y, Lu J, Axcrona K, Eide L, Syljuåsen RG, Peng Q, Wang J, Zhang H,Goscinski MA,Kvalheim G,Nesland JM,Suo Z(2017) **Correction: MtDNA depleted PC3** cells exhibit Warburg effect and cancer stem cell features Oncotarget,8(4),7208-7213

Lilleby W, Gaudernack G, Brunsvig PF,Vlatkovic L,Schulz M,Mills K,Hole KH, Inderberg EM(2017) Phase I/IIa clinical trial of a novel hTERT peptide vaccine in men with metastatic hormone-naive prostate cancer

Cancer Immunol Immunother,66(7),891-901

Lim S, Phillips JB, Madeira da Silva L, Zhou M.Fodstad O,Owen LB,Tan M(2017) Interplay between Immune Checkpoint Proteins and Cellular Metabolism

Cancer Res,77(6),1245-1249

Lind GE, van Engeland M (2017) Details matter: the role of genomic location and assay standardization in DNA methylation analyses Epigenomics, 9 (7), 933-935

Lind GE, Guriby M, Ahlquist T, Hussain I, Jeanmougin M, Søreide K, Kørner H,Lothe RA,Nordgård O(2017) Prognostic relevance of an epigenetic biomarker panel in sentinel lymph nodes from colon cancer patients Clin Epigenetics.9.97

Liu II. Béziat V. **Oei VYS**. Pfefferle A.Schaffer M.Lehmann S.Hellström-Lindberg E,Söderhäll S,Heyman M,Grandér D.Malmberg KJ(2017) **Ex Vivo Expanded Adaptive NK Cells Effectively Kill Primary Acute Lym**phoblastic Leukemia Cells Cancer Immunol Res,5(8),654-665

Lund K, Olsen CE, Wong JJW, Olsen PA,Solberg NT,Høgset A,Krauss S,Selbo PK(2017)

5-FU resistant EMT-like pancreatic cancer cells are hypersensitive to photochemical internalization of the novel endoqlin-targeting immunotoxin CD105-saporin J Exp Clin Cancer Res, 36(1), 187

Lund KV.Simonsen TG.Kristensen GB,Rofstad EK(2017) Pretreatment late-phase DCE-MRI predicts outcome in locally advanced cervix cancer Acta Oncol, 56(5), 675-681

Lunde NN, Haugen MH, Bodin Larsen KB, Damgaard I, Pettersen SJ, Kasem R,Rut W,Drag M,Poreba M,Johansen HT,Solberg R(2017) Glycosylation is important for legumain localization and processing to active forms but not for cystatin E/M inhibitory functions Biochimie.139.27-37

Lyng H, Malinen E(2017) Hypoxia in cervical cancer: from biology to imaging Clin Transl Imaging, 5(4), 373-388

Lågstad S,Zhao S,Hoff AM,Johannessen B, Lingjærde OC, Skotheim RI(2017) chimeraviz: a tool for visualizing chimeric RNA Bioinformatics, 33(18), 2954-2956

Lång A, Eriksson J, Schink KO, Lång E, Blicher P.Połeć A.Brech A.Dalhus B.Bøe SO(2017)

Visualization of PML nuclear import complexes reveals FG-repeat nucleoporins at cargo retrieval sites Nucleus,8(4),404-420

Malecki J, Aileni VK, Ho AYY, Schwarz J,Moen A,Sørensen V,Nilges BS,Jakobsson ME.Leidel SA.Falnes PØ(2017) The novel lysine specific methyltransferase METTL21B affects mRNA translation through inducible and dynamic methylation of Lys-165 in human eukaryotic elongation factor 1 alpha (eEF1A)

Nucleic Acids Res. 45(8), 4370-4389

Malmberg KJ, Carlsten M, Björklund A,Sohlberg E,Bryceson YT,Ljunggren HG(2017) Natural killer cell-mediated immunosurveillance of human cancer Semin Immunol, 31, 20-29

Malmberg KJ, Sohlberg E, Goodridge JP, Ljunggren HG(2017) Immune selection during tumor checkpoint inhibition therapy paves way for NK-cell "missing self" recognition

Immunogenetics,69(8-9),547-556

Manna D, Pust S, Torgersen ML, Cordara G,Künzler M,Krengel U,**Sandvig K**(2017) Polyporus squamosus Lectin 1a (PSL1a) Exhibits Cytotoxicity in Mammalian Cells by Disruption of Focal Adhesions, Inhibition of Protein Synthesis and Induction of Apoptosis PLoS One,12(1),e0170716

McGowan M,Kleinberg L,Halvorsen AR, Helland Å, Brustugun OT (2017) NSCLC depend upon YAP expression and nuclear localization after acquiring resistance to EGFR inhibitors Genes Cancer.8(3-4).497-504

McGowan M, Hoven AS, Lund-Iversen M, Solberg S, Helland Å, Hirsch FR, Brustugun OT.

PIK3CA mutations as prognostic factor in squamous cell lung carcinoma. Lung Cancer. 2017 Jan;103: 52-57.

Meisal R, Rounge TB, Christiansen IK, Eieland AK.Worren MM.Molden TF.Kommedal Ø, Hovig E, Leegaard TM, Ambur OH(2017)

HPV Genotyping of Modified General Primer-Amplicons Is More Analytically Sensitive and Specific by Sequencing than by Hybridization PLoS One.12(1).e0169074

Mesnil M, Aasen T, Boucher J, Chépied A, Cronier L, Defamie N, Kameritsch P, Laird DW,Lampe PD,Lathia JD,Leithe E,Mehta PP, Monvoisin A, Pogoda K, Sin WC, Tabernero A, Yamasaki H, Yeh ES, Dagli MLZ, Naus CC(2017) An update on minding the gap in

cancer

Biochim Biophys Acta, 1860(1), 237-243

Mezheyeuski A, Strell C, Hrynchyk I, Guren TK, Dragomir A, Doroshenko T, Pashkova O,Gorgun J,Ruksha K,Pfeiffer P,Kure **EH**, Sorbye H, Edler D, Martling A, Glimelius B,Östman A,Portyanko A(2017) Treatment-related survival associations of claudin-2 expression in fibroblasts of colorectal cancer Virchows Arch(EPub)

Michailidou K, Lindström S, Dennis J,Beesley J,Hui S,Kar S,Lemacon A,Soucy P.Glubb D.Rostamianfar A.Bolla MK.Wang Q, Tyrer J, Dicks E, Lee A, Wang Z, Allen J,Keeman R,Eilber U,French JD,Qing Chen X, Fachal L, McCue K, McCart Reed AE, Ghoussaini M, Kristensen VN, et al.(2017)

Association analysis identifies 65 new breast cancer risk loci Nature.551(7678).92-94

Milne RL, Kuchenbaecker KB, Michailidou K, Beesley J, Kar S, Lindström S, Hui S, Lemaçon A, Soucy P, Dennis J, Jiang X, Rostamianfar A, Finucane H, Bolla MK, McGuffog L, Wang Q, Aalfs CM, ABCTB Investigators, Adams M, Adlard J, Agata S, Ahmed S, Ahsan H, Aittomäki K, Al-Ejeh F, Kristensen VN et al. (2017) Identification of ten variants associated with risk of estrogen-receptor-negative breast cancer Nat Genet, 49 (12), 1767-1778

Moen LV, Ramberg H, Zhao S, Grytli HH, Sveen A, Berge V, Skotheim RI, Taskén KA, Skålhegg BS (2016) **Observed correlation between the** expression levels of catalytic subunit, C_β2, of cyclic adenosine monophosphate-dependent protein kinase and prostate cancer aggressiveness Urol Oncol. 35 (3). 111.e1-111.e8

Munkley J,McClurg UL,Livermore KE,Ehrmann I.Knight B.Mccullagh P.Mcgrath J.Crundwell M.Harries LW.Leung HY.Mills IG.Robson CN.Raian P.Elliott DJ(2017) The cancer-associated cell migration protein TSPAN1 is under control of androgens and its upregulation increases prostate cancer cell migration

Sci Rep,7(1),5249

Møller P.Hovig E(2017) Our genes, our selves: hereditary breast cancer and biological citizenship in Norway Med Health Care Philos(EPub)

Møller P, Hovig E(2017) The BRCA2 variant c.68-7 T>A is associated with breast cancer Hered Cancer Clin Pract.15.20

Møller P.Seppälä TT.Bernstein I.Holinski-Feder E,Sala P,Gareth Evans D,Lindblom A,Macrae F,Blanco I,Sijmons RH, Jeffries J, Vasen HFA, Burn J, Nakken S.Hovig E.Rødland EA. Tharmaratnam K,de Vos Tot Nederveen Cappel WH,Hill J.Wiinen JT.Jenkins MA.Green K.Lalloo F.Sunde L.Mints Met al.(2017) Cancer risk and survival in path_MMR carriers by gene and gender up to 75 years of age: a report from the Prospective Lynch Syndrome Database Gut(EPub)

Nakken S, Fournous G, Vodák D.Aasheim LB.Myklebost O.Hovig E(2017) Personal Cancer Genome Reporter: variant interpretation report for precision oncology

Bioinformatics(EPub)

Namløs HM,Zaikova O,Bjerkehagen B, Vodák D, Hovig E, Myklebost O, Boye K.Meza-Zepeda LA(2017) Use of liquid biopsies to monitor disease progression in a sarcoma patient: a case report BMC Cancer.17(1).29

Nestvold J, Wang MY, Camilio **KA**,Zinöcker S,Tjelle TE,Lindberg A,Haug BE,Kvalheim G,Sveinbjørnsson B,Rekdal Ø(2017)

Oncolytic peptide LTX-315 induces an immune-mediated abscopal effect in a rat sarcoma model Oncoimmunology,6(8),e1338236

Niemiec MJ,Grumaz C,Ermert D,Desel C,Shankar M,Lopes JP,**Mills IG**,Stevens P,Sohn K,Urban CF(2017) **Dual transcriptome of the immediate neutrophil and Candida albicans interplay** BMC Genomics,18(1),696

Norum OJ, Fremstedal ASV, Weyergang A, Golab J, Berg K (2017) Photochemical delivery of bleomycin induces T-cell activation of importance for curative effect and systemic anti-tumor immunity J Control Release, 268, 120-127

O'Farrell F,Lobert VH,Sneeggen M,Jain A,Katheder NS,Wenzel EM,Schultz SW,Tan KW,Brech A,Stenmark H,Rusten TE(2017) Class III phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase controls epithelial integrity through endosomal LKB1 regulation Nat Cell Biol,19(12),1412-1423

Ohnstad HO,Borgen E,Falk RS,**Lien TG**,Aaserud M,Sveli MAT,Kyte JA,**Kristensen VN,Geitvik GA**,Schlichting E,Wist EA,**Sørlie T,Russnes HG**,Naume B(2017)

Prognostic value of PAM50 and risk of recurrence score in patients with early-stage breast cancer with longterm follow-up

Breast Cancer Res, 19(1), 120

Olsen CE, Sellevold S, Theodossiou T, Patzke S, Berg K(2017) Impact of genotypic and phenotypic differences in sarcoma models on the outcome of photochemical internalization (PCI) of bleomycin Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 20, 35-47

Olsen CE, Weyergang A, Edwards VT, Berg K, Brech A, Weisheit S, Høgset A, Selbo PK (2017) Development of resistance to photodynamic therapy (PDT) in human breast cancer cells is photosensitizer-dependent: Possible mechanisms and approaches for overcoming PDT-resistance

Biochem Pharmacol,144,63-77

Olweus, J(2017) Manufacture of CAR-T cells in the body. Nat Biotechnol 35, 520-521, Ovchinnikov VY,Mordvinov VA,**Fromm** B(2017)

Extreme conservation of miRNA complements in opisthorchilds Parasitol Int,66(6),773-776

Pathan M,Keerthikumar S,Chisanga D,Alessandro R,Ang CS,Askenase P,Batagov AO,Benito-Martin A,Camussi G,Clayton A,Collino F,Di Vizio D,Falcon-Perez JM,Fonseca P,Fonseka P,Fontana S,Gho YS,Hendrix A,Hoen EN,Iraci N,Kastaniegaard K,Kislinger T,Kowal J,Kurochkin IV,Leonardi Tet al.(2017)

A novel community driven software for functional enrichment analysis of extracellular vesicles data J Extracell Vesicles.6(1).1321455

Pietarinen PO,Eide CA,Ayuda-Durán P,Potdar S,Kuusanmäki H,Andersson El,Mpindi JP,Pemovska T,Kontro M,Heckman CA,Kallioniemi O,Wennerberg K,Hjorth-Hansen H,Druker BJ,**Enserink** JM,Tyner JW,Mustjoki S,Porkka K(2017) Differentiation status of primary chronic myeloid leukemia cells affects sensitivity to BCR-ABL1 inhibitors

Oncotarget,8(14),22606-22615

Planchard D, Smit EF, Groen HJM, Mazieres J, Besse B, **Helland Å**, Giannone V, D'Amelio AM, Zhang P, Mookerjee B, Johnson BE (2017) **Dabrafenib plus trametinib in patients with previously untreated BRA FV600E mutant metastatic nonsmall-cell lung cancer: an open-label, phase 2 trial** Lancet Oncol, 18 (10), 1307-1316

Pudroma X,Duoji G,**Grigalavicius M**,Jie D,**Juzeniene A**(2017) **Molecular Mechanisms of UVA-Induced Melanoma** J Environ Pathol Toxicol Oncol,36(3),217-228

Quigley DA, Tahiri A, Lüders T, Riis MH, Balmain A, Børresen-Dale AL, Bukholm I, Kristensen VN (2017) Age, estrogen, and immune response in breast adenocarcinoma and adjacent normal tissue Oncoimmunology, 6(11), e1356142

Rahman MM,Franch-Marro X,Maestro JL,Martin D,Casali A(2017) Local Juvenile Hormone activity regulates gut homeostasis and tumor **growth in adult Drosophila** Sci Rep,7(1),11677

Raiborg C, Schink KO, Stenmark H (2017) Suppressing mTORC1 on the lysosome EMBO J, 36 (13), 1809-1810

Ree AH, Russnes HG, Heinrich D, Dueland S, Boye K, Nygaard V, Silwal-Pandit L, Østrup O, Hovig E, Nygaard V, Rødland EA, Nakken S, Øien JT, Johansen C, Bergheim IR, Skarpeteig V, Sathermugathevan M, Sauer T, Lund-Iversen M, Beiske K, Nasser S, Julsrud L, Reisse CH, Ruud EA, Flørenes VAet al. (2017) Implementing precision cancer medicine in the public health services of Norway: the diagnostic infrastructure and a cost estimate ESMO Open, 2(2), e000158

Refinetti P,Arstad C,Thilly WG,Morgenthaler S,**Ekstrøm PO**(2017) **Mapping mitochondrial heteroplasmy in a Leydig tumor by laser capture micro-dissection and cycling temperature capillary electrophoresis** BMC Clin Pathol.17.6

Reiseter S, Gunnarsson R, Corander J, Haydon J, Lund MB, Aaløkken TM, **Taraldsrud** E, Hetlevik SO, Molberg Ø(2017) Disease evolution in mixed connective tissue disease: results from a long-term nationwide prospective cohort study

Arthritis Res Ther, 19(1), 284

Rodríguez M,Bajo-Santos C,Hessvik NP,Lorenz S,Fromm B,Berge V,Sandvig K,Linē A,Llorente A(2017) Identification of non-invasive miR-NAs biomarkers for prostate cancer by deep sequencing analysis of urinary exosomes Mol Cancer,16(1),156

Rossi BM,Palmero El,López-Kostner F,Sarroca C,Vaccaro CA,Spirandelli F,Ashton-Prolla P,Rodriguez Y,de Campos Reis Galvão H,Reis RM,Escremim de Paula A,Capochin Romagnolo LG,Alvarez K,Della Valle A,Neffa F,Kalfayan PG,Spirandelli E,Chialina S,Gutiérrez Angulo M,Castro-Mujica MDC,Sanchez de Monte J,Quispe R,da Silva SD,Rossi NT,Barletta-Carrillo Cet al.(2017) **A survey of the clinicopathological** and molecular characteristics of patients with suspected Lynch syndrome in Latin America BMC Cancer.17(1).623

Rothe C,Rødland GE,Anda S,Stonyte V,Boye E,Lopez-Aviles S,Grallert B(2017) A checkpoint-independent mechanism delays entry into mitosis after UV irradiation J Cell Sci,130(23),4028-4037

Russnes HG,Lingjærde OC,Børresen-Dale AL,Caldas C(2017) Breast Cancer Molecular Stratification: From Intrinsic Subtypes to Integrative Clusters

Am J Pathol,187(10),2152-2162

Rustad EH,Coward E,Skytøen ER,Misund K,Holien T,Standal T,Børset M,Beisvag V,**Myklebost O,Meza-Zepeda LA**,Dai HY,Sundan A,Waage A(2017) **Monitoring multiple myeloma by quantification of recurrent mutations in serum** Haematologica,102(7),1266-1272

Sadovska L,Zandberga E,Sagini K,Jēkabsons K,Riekstiņa U,Kalniņa Z,**Llorente A**,Linē A(2017) **A novel 3D heterotypic spheroid**

model for studying extracellular vesicle-mediated tumour and immune cell communication Biochem Biophys Res Com-

mun,495(2),1930-1935 Saeednejad Zanjani L,Madjd Z,Abolhasani M,**Andersson Y**,Rasti A,Shariftabrizi A,Asgari M(2017) **Cytoplasmic expression of CD133**

stemness marker is associated with tumor aggressiveness in clear cell renal cell carcinoma Exp Mol Pathol,103(2),218-228

Saldova R,Haakensen VD,**Rødland** E,Walsh I,Stöckmann H,**Engebraaten O,Børresen-Dale AL**,Rudd PM(2017) Serum N-glycome alterations in breast cancer during multimodal treatment and follow-up Mol Oncol,11(10),1361-1379

Samuel N,Id Said B,Guha T,Novokmet A,Li W,**Silwal-Pandit L,Børresen-Dale AL,Langerød A**,Hudson TJ,Malkin D(2017)

Assessment of TP53 Polymorphisms and MDM2 SNP309 in Premenopausal follow-up protocols: a Prospective Lynch Syndrome Database report Hered Cancer Clin Pract,15,18 Serguienko A,Hanes R,Grad I,Wang MY,Myklebost O,Munthe E(2017) PP2A Regulatory Subunit B55y is a Gatekeeper of Osteoblast Maturation and Lineage Maintenance Stem Cells Dev,26(19),1375-1383

Shimelis H,Mesman RLS,Von Nicolai C,Ehlen A,Guidugli L,Martin C,Calléja FMGR,Meeks H,Hallberg E,Hinton J,Lilyquist J,Hu C,Aalfs CM,Aittomäki K,Andrulis I,Anton-Culver H,Arndt V,Beckmann

Breast Cancer Risk Hum Mutat,38(3),265-268

Schive SW, Mirlashari MR, **Hasvold G**, Wang M, Josefsen D, Gullestad HP, Korsgren O, Foss A, Kvalheim G, Scholz H(2017) **Human Adipose-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells Respond to Short-Term Hypoxia by Secreting Factors Beneficial for Human Islets In Vitro and Potentiate Antidiabetic Effect**

Cell Med,9(3),103-116

In Vivo

ASV.Berg K(2017)

Scott DW, Abrisqueta P, Wright GW, Slack GW, Mottok A, Villa D, Jares P, Rauert-Wunderlich H, Royo C, Clot G, Pinyol M, Boyle M, Chan FC, Braziel RM, Chan WC, Weisenburger DD, Cook JR, Greiner TC, Fu K, Ott G, Delabie J, **Smeland EB**, Holte H, Jaffe ES, Steidl Cet al. (2017)

New Molecular Assay for the Proliferation Signature in Mantle Cell Lymphoma Applicable to Formalin-Fixed Paraffin-Embedded Biopsies J Clin Oncol, 35(15), 1668-1677

Sellevold S, Peng Q, Fremstedal

Photochemical internalization (PCI) of bleomycin is equally effective in two dissimilar leiomyosarcoma xenografts in athymic mice

Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther, 20, 95-106

Seppälä T,Pylvänäinen K,Evans DG,Järvinen H,Renkonen-Sinisalo L,Bernstein I,Holinski-Feder E,Sala P,Lindblom A,Macrae F,Blanco I,Sijmons R,Jeffries J,Vasen H,Burn J,**Nakken S,Hovig E,Rødland EA**,Tharmaratnam K,de Vos Tot Nederveen Cappel WH,Hill J,Wijnen J,Jenkins M,Genuardi M,Green Ket al.(2017) Colorectal cancer incidence in path_ MLH1 carriers subjected to different follow-up protocols: a Prospective Lynch Syndrome Database report Hered Cancer Clin Pract,15,18 MW,Benitez J,Bogdanova NV,Bojesen SE,Bolla MK,**Borresen-Dale AL**,Brauch H,Brennan P, **Kristensen, VN,** et al.(2017) **BRCA2 Hypomorphic Missense Variants Confer Moderate Risks of Breast Cancer**

Cancer Res,77(11),2789-2799

Silwal-Pandit L,Langerød A,Børresen-Dale AL(2017) TP53 Mutations in Breast and Ovarian Cancer

Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med,7(1)

Silwal-Pandit L,Nord S,von der Lippe Gythfeldt H,Møller EK,Fleischer T,Rødland E,Krohn M,Borgen E,Garred Ø,Olsen T,Vu P,Skjerven H,Fangberget A,Holmen MM,Schlitchting E,Wille E,Nordberg Stokke M,Moen Vollan HK,Kristensen VN,Langerød A,Lundgren S,Wist E,Naume B,Lingjærde OC,Børresen-Dale AL, Kristensen VN, et al.(2017) The Longitudinal Transcriptional Response to Neoadjuvant Chemotherapy with and without Bevacizumab in Breast Cancer

Clin Cancer Res,23(16),4662-4670

Simm R,Kvalvaag AS,van Deurs B,Lindbäck T,Sandvig K(2017) Benzyl alcohol induces a reversible fragmentation of the Golgi apparatus and inhibits membrane trafficking between endosomes and the trans-Golgi network Exp Cell Res,357(1),67-78

Simovski B,**Vodák D**,Gundersen S,Domanska D,Azab A,Holden L,Holden M,Grytten I,Rand K,Drabløs F,Johansen M,Mora A,**Lund-Andersen C,Fromm B**,Eskeland R,Gabrielsen OS,Ferkingstad E,**Nakken S**,Bengtsen M,Nederbragt AJ,Thorarensen HS,Akse JA,Glad I,**Hovig E**,Sandve GK(2017)

GSuite HyperBrowser: integrative analysis of dataset collections across the genome and epigenome Gigascience,6(7),1-12

Skotland T (2017)

Injection of nanoparticles into cloven-hoof animals: Asking for trouble Theranostics, 7 (19), 4877-4878

Skotland T,Sandvig K,Llorente A(2017) Lipids in exosomes: Current knowledge and the way forward Prog Lipid Res,66,30-41

Smebye ML, Agostini A, Johannessen B.Thorsen J.Davidson B.Tropé CG.Heim S.Skotheim RI.Micci F(2017) Involvement of DPP9 in gene fusions in serous ovarian carcinoma BMC Cancer, 17(1), 642

Solheim O, Førsund M, Tropé CG, Kraggerud SM, Nesland JM, Davidson B(2017) **Epithelial-mesenchymal transition** markers in malignant ovarian germ cell tumors APMIS,125(9),781-786

Stuchlý J.Kanderová V.Vlková M,Heřmanová I,Slámová L,Pelák O,Taraldsrud E, Jílek D, Králíc Ková P, Fevang B.Trková M.Hrušák O.Froňková E.Šedivá A.Litzman J.Kalina T(2017) Common Variable Immunodeficiency patients with a phenotypic profile of immunosenescence present with thrombocytopenia Sci Rep,7,39710

Stuchlý J,Kanderová V,Vlková M,Heřmanová I,Slámová L,Pelák O, Taraldsrud E, Jílek D, Králíčková P, Fevang B.Trková M.Hrušák O.Froňková E.Šedivá A.Litzman J.Kalina T(2017) **Erratum: Common Variable Immu**nodeficiency patients with a phenotypic profile of immunosenescence present with thrombocytopenia Sci Rep.7.42569

Sulheim E, Iversen TG, To Nakstad V.Klinkenberg G.Sletta H.Schmid R.Hatletveit AR, Wågbø AM, Sundan A, Skotland T,Sandvig K,Mørch Ý(2017) Cytotoxicity of Poly(Alkyl Cyanoacrylate) Nanoparticles Int J Mol Sci,18(11)

Sveen A.Bruun J.Eide PW.Eilertsen IA.Ramirez L.Murumägi A.Ariama M.Danielsen SA, Kryeziu K, Elez E, Tabernero J,Guinney J,Palmer HG,Nesbakken A,Kallioniemi O, Dienstmann R, Lothe RA (2017) **Colorectal Cancer Consensus Molec**ular Subtypes Translated to Preclinical Models Uncover Potentially Targetable Cancer Cell Dependencies Clin Cancer Res(EPub)

Sveen A, Johannessen B, Tengs T, Danielsen SA, Eilertsen IA, Lind GE, Berg KCG,Leithe E,Meza-Zepeda LA,Domingo E, Myklebost O, Kerr D, Tomlinson I.Nesbakken A.Skotheim RI.Lothe **RA**(2017)

Multilevel genomics of colorectal cancers with microsatellite instabilitv-clinical impact of JAK1 mutations and consensus molecular subtype 1 Genome Med.9(1).46

Sveinbjørnsson B, Camilio KA, Haug BE.Rekdal Ø(2017) LTX-315: a first-in-class oncolytic peptide that reprograms the tumor

microenvironment Future Med Chem.9(12).1339-1344 Taraldsrud E, Fevang B, Jørgensen

SF.Moltu K.Hilden V.Taskén K.Aukrust P,Myklebust JH,Olweus J(2017) **Defective IL-4 signaling in T cells** defines severe common variable immunodeficiency J Autoimmun,81,110-119

Taraldsrud, E., Aukrust, P., Jorgensen, S., Lingjaerde, O. C., Olweus, J., Myklebust, J. H. & Fevang, B. Patterns of constitutively phosphorylated kinases in B cells are associated with disease severity in common variable immunodeficiency. Clin Immunol 175, 69-74,

Taubenschmid J.Stadlmann J.Jost M.Klokk TI.Rillahan CD.Leibbrandt A, Mechtler K, Paulson JC, Jude J, Zuber J, Sandvig K, Elling U, Marguardt T, Thiel C,Koerner C,Penninger JM(2017) A vital sugar code for ricin toxicity Cell Res, 27(11), 1351-1364

Theodossiou TA, Olsen CE, Jonsson M,Kubin A,Hothersall JS,Berg K(2017) The diverse roles of glutathione-associated cell resistance against hypericin photodynamic therapy Redox Biol, 12, 191-197

Thomsen M,Guren MG,Skovlund E,Glimelius B, Hjermstad MJ, Johansen JS, Kure **E**,Sorbye H,Pfeiffer P,Christoffersen T,Guren TK, Tveit KM(2017) Health-related quality of life in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer, association with systemic inflammatory response and RAS and **BRAF** mutation status Eur J Cancer,81,26-35

Thorgersen EB, Goscinski MA, Spasojevic M. Solbakken AM. Mariathasan AB. Bove K. Larsen SG. Flatmark K (2017) **Deep Pelvic Surgical Site Infection** After Radiotherapy and Surgery for

Locally Advanced Rectal Cancer Ann Sura Oncol. 24 (3), 721-728

Thorvaldsen TE(2017) **Targeting Tankyrase to Fight** WNT-dependent Tumours Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol.121(2).81-88

Thorvaldsen TE.Pedersen NM.Wenzel EM.Stenmark H(2017) **Differential Roles of AXIN1 and** AXIN2 in Tankyrase Inhibitor-Induced Formation of Degradasomes and **B**-Catenin Degradation PLoS One.12(1).e0170508

Torheim T.Malinen E.Hole KH.Lund KV,Indahl UG,Lyng H,Kvaal K,Futsaether CM(2017) Autodelineation of cervical cancers using multiparametric magnetic resonance imaging and machine learning Acta Oncol, 56(6), 806-812

Totland MZ.Bergsland CH.Fykerud TA Knudsen LM Rasmussen NL Eide PW. Yohannes Z. Sørensen V. Brech A,Lothe RA,Leithe E(2017) The E3 ubiquitin ligase NEDD4 induces endocytosis and lysosomal sorting of connexin 43 to promote loss of gap junctions J Cell Sci.130(17).2867-2882

Traxl A,Beikbaghban T,Wanek T,Kryeziu K,Pirker C,Mairinger S,Stanek J,Filip T,Sauberer M,Kuntner C,Berger W,Langer 0(2017) [11C]Erlotinib PET cannot detect ac-

quired erlotinib resistance in NSCLC tumor xenografts in mice Nucl Med Biol, 52, 7-15

Tusco R.Jacomin AC.Jain A.Penman BS.Larsen KB, Johansen T, Nezis IP(2017) Kenny mediates selective autophagic degradation of the IKK complex to control innate immune responses Nat Commun,8(1),1264

Umu SU,Langseth H,Bucher-Johannessen C, Fromm B, Keller A, Meese E, Lauritzen M,Leithaug M,Lyle R,Rounge TB(2017) A comprehensive profile of circulating RNAs in human serum RNA Biol, 15(2), 242-250

Urbanucci A, Barfeld SJ, Kytölä V, Itkonen HM.Coleman IM.Vodák D.Siöblom L,Sheng X,Tolonen T,Minner S,Burdelski

C,Kivinummi KK,Kohvakka A,Kregel S.Takhar M.Alshalalfa M.Davicioni E.Erho N.Llovd P.Karnes RJ.Ross AE.Schaeffer EM, Vander Griend DJ, Knapp S, Corey Eet al.(2017)

Androgen Receptor Deregulation **Drives Bromodomain-Mediated Chro**matin Alterations in Prostate Cancer Cell Rep,19(10),2045-2059

Urbanucci A.Mills IG(2017) **Bromodomain-containing proteins in** prostate cancer Mol Cell Endocrinol(EPub)

Vedeld HM, Merok M, Jeanmougin M.Danielsen SA.Honne H.Presthus GK,Svindland A,Sjo OH,Hektoen M,Eknaes M.Nesbakken A.Lothe RA.Lind **GE**(2017)

CpG island methylator phenotype identifies high risk patients among microsatellite stable BRAF mutated colorectal cancers Int J Cancer, 141(5), 967-976

Vestad B,Llorente A,Neurauter A,Phuyal S,Kierulf B,Kierulf P,Skotland T,Sandvig K.Haug KBF.Øvstebø R(2017) Size and concentration analyses of

extracellular vesicles by nanoparticle tracking analysis: a variation study J Extracell Vesicles.6(1),1344087

Volchenkov R, Nygaard V, Sener Z, Skålhegg BS(2017)

Th17 Polarization under Hypoxia **Results in Increased IL-10 Production** in a Pathogen-Independent Manner Front Immunol.8.698

Wagner JA, Rosario M, Romee R, Berrien-Elliott MM, Schneider SE, Leong JW, Sullivan RP, Jewell BA, Becker-Hapak M,Schappe T,Abdel-Latif S,Ireland AR, Jaishankar D, King JA, Vij R, **Clement** D.Goodridge J.Malmberg KJ.Wong HC.Fehniger TA(2017) CD56bright NK cells exhibit potent antitumor responses following IL-15 priming

J Clin Invest.127(11).4042-4058

Walker SM, Knight LA, McCavigan AM, Logan GE, Berge V, Sherif A, Pandha H, Warren AY, Davidson C, Uprichard A, Blayney JK, Price B, Jellema GL, Steele CJ, Svindland A,McDade SS,Eden CG,Foster C,Mills IG, Neal DE, Mason MD, Kay EW, Waugh DJ,Harkin DP,Watson RWet al.(2017) Molecular Subgroup of Primary Prosstatic Biology Eur Urol.72(4).509-518

Walseng E,Köksal H,Sektioglu IM,Fåne A, Skorstad G, Kvalheim G, Gaudernack G.Inderberg EM.Wälchli S(2017) A TCR-based Chimeric Antigen Receptor Sci Rep,7(1),10713

Wang MY, Nestvold J, Rekdal Ø, Kvalheim **G.Fodstad Ø**(2017) A novel rat fibrosarcoma cell line from transformed bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells with maintained in vitro and in vivo stemness properties Exp Cell Res, 352(2), 218-224

Wegner CS, Hauge A, Gaustad JV, Andersen LMK, Simonsen TG, Galappathi K.Rofstad EK(2017) Dynamic contrast-enhanced MRI of the microenvironment of pancreatic adenocarcinoma xenografts Acta Oncol, 56(12), 1754-1762

Weischenfeldt J, Dubash T, Drainas AP, Mardin BR, Chen Y, Stütz AM, Waszak SM, Bosco G. Halvorsen AR. Raeder B. Efthvmiopoulos T, Erkek S, Siegl C, Brenner H, Brustugun OT, Dieter SM, Northcott PA, Petersen I. Pfister SM. Schneider M. Solberg SK, Thunissen E, Weichert W, Zichner T, Thomas R, Peifer M, Helland A, Ball CR, Jechlinger M, Sotillo R, Glimm H, Korbel JO(2017)

Pan-cancer analysis of somatic copy-number alterations implicates IRS4 and IGF2 in enhancer hijacking. Nat Genet 2017; 49,65-74: doi: 1038/ ng3722.

Westrøm S.Generalov R.Bønsdorff TB.Larsen RH(2017) Preparation of 212Pb-labeled monoclonal antibody using a novel 224Rabased generator solution Nucl Med Biol, 51, 1-9

Wogsland CE, Greenplate AR, Kolstad A, Myklebust JH, Irish JM, Huse K(2017) Mass Cytometry of Follicular Lymphoma Tumors Reveals Intrinsic Heterogeneity in Proteins Including HLA-DR and a Deficit in Nonmalignant Plasmablast and Germinal Center B-Cell Populations Cytometry B Clin Cytom, 92(1), 79-87

tate Cancer Presenting with Meta-

Zaniani LS.Madid Z.Abolhasani M.Rasti A.Fodstad O.Andersson Y.Asgari M(2017)

Increased expression of CD44 is associated with more aggressive behavior in clear cell renal cell carcinoma

Biomark Med.12(1),45-61

Zhao S.Løvf M.Carm KT.Bakken AC, Hoff AM, Skotheim RI(2017) Novel transcription-induced fusion **RNAs in prostate cancer** Oncotarget,8(30),49133-49143

Zimmermann C.Garcia I.Omerzu M, Chymkowitch P, Zhang B, Enserink **JM**(2017) Mapping the Synthetic Dosage Le-

thality Network of CDK1/CDC28 G3 (Bethesda).7(6).1753-1766

Zuber V, Bettella F, Witoelar A, PRACTICAL Consortium.CRUK GWAS.BCAC Consortium, TRICL Consortium, Andreassen OA, Mills IG, Urbanucci A(2017) Bromodomain protein 4 discriminates tissue-specific super-enhancers containing disease-specific susceptibility loci in prostate and breast cancer BMC Genomics,18(1),270

Østrup O.Dagenborg VJ.Rødland EA, Skarpeteig V, Silwal-Pandit L, Grzyb K,Berstad AE,Fretland ÅA,**Mælandsmo** GM, Børresen-Dale AL, Ree AH, Edwin B, Nygaard V, Flatmark K(2017) **Molecular signatures reflecting** microenvironmental metabolism and chemotherapy-induced immunogenic cell death in colorectal liver metastases

Oncotarget,8(44),76290-76304

Øverbye A, Holsæter AM, Fusser M,Škalko-Basnet N, Iversen TG, Torgersen ML,Sønstevold T,Engebraaten O, Flatmark K, Mælandsmo GM, Skotland T.Sandvig K(2017) Ceramide-containing liposomes with doxorubicin: time and cell-dependent effect of C6 and C12 ceramide Oncotarget,8(44),76921-76934

PUBLICATIONS 2018

Celestino R, Nome T, Pestana A, Hoff **AM**, Goncalves AP, Pereira L, Cavadas B, Eloy C, Bjøro T, Sobrinho-Simões M, Skotheim RI, Soares P (2018) CRABP1, C10L1 and LCN2 are biomarkers of differentiated thyroid carcinoma, and predict extrathyroidal extension BMC Cancer, 18 (1), 68

Chèneby J, Gheorghe M, Artufel M, Mathelier A, Ballester B (2018) ReMap 2018: an updated atlas of requlatory regions from an integrative analysis of DNA-binding ChIP-seq experiments

Nucleic Acids Res, 46 (D1), D267-D275

Dominguez-Valentin M, Evans DGR, Nakken S. Tubeuf H. Vodak D. Ekstrøm **PO**, Nissen AM, Morak M, Holinski-Feder E, Martins A, Møller P, Hovig E (2018) Genetic variants of prospectively demonstrated phenocopies in-<i>BRCA1/2</i>kindreds Hered Cancer Clin Pract, 16, 4

Dominguez-Valentin M, Nakken S, Tubeuf H, Vodak D, Ekstrøm PO, Nissen AM, Morak M, Holinski-Feder E, Martins A, Møller P. Hovig E (2018) Potentially pathogenic germline CHEK2 c.319+2T>A among multiple early-onset cancer families Fam Cancer, 17 (1), 141-153

Dominguez-Valentin M, Nakken S, Tubeuf H, Vodak D, Ekstrøm PO, Nissen AM, Morak M, Holinski-Feder E, Martins A, Møller P, Hovig E (2018) Identification of genetic variants for clinical management of familial colorectal tumors BMC Med Genet, 19 (1), 26

Dukic AR, Gerbaud P, Guibourdenche J, Thiede B. **Taskén K**. Pidoux G (2018) Ezrin-anchored PKA phosphorylates serine 369 and 373 on connexin 43 to enhance gap junction assembly. communication, and cell fusion Biochem J, 475 (2), 455-476

Fretland ÅA, Dagenborg VJ, Bjørnelv GMW, Kazaryan AM, Kristiansen R, Fagerland MW, Hausken J, Tønnessen TI, Abildgaard A, Barkhatov L, Yagub S, Røsok BI, Bjørnbeth BA, Andersen MH, Flatmark K, Aas E, Edwin B (2018)

Laparoscopic Versus Open Resection for Colorectal Liver Metastases: The OSLO-COMET Randomized Controlled Trial Ann Surg, 267 (2), 199-207

Halushka MK, Fromm B, Peterson KJ, McCall MN (2018) **Big Strides in Cellular MicroRNA** Expression Trends Genet, 34 (3), 165-167

Khan A, Fornes O, Stigliani A, Gheorghe M. Castro-Mondragon JA, van der Lee R. Bessy A, Chèneby J, Kulkarni SR, Tan G, Baranasic D, Arenillas DJ, Sandelin A, Vandepoele K, Lenhard B, Ballester B, Wasserman WW, Parcy F, Mathelier A (2018)

JASPAR 2018: update of the open-access database of transcription factor binding profiles and its web framework

Nucleic Acids Res, 46 (D1), D260-D266

Myhrvold, I.K., Cremaschi, A., Hermansen, J.U., Tjønnfjord, G.E., Munthe, L.A., Taskén, K., Skånland, S.S. (2018) Single cell profiling of phospho-protein levels in chronic lymphocytic leukemia

Oncotarget, 2018; 9:9273-9284

Norum JH, Skarpen E, Brech A, Kuiper R. Waaler J. Krauss S. **Sørlie T** (2018) The tankyrase inhibitor G007-LK inhibits small intestine LGR5<sup>+</ sup>stem cell proliferation without altering tissue morphology Biol Res, 51 (1), 3

Pharo HD, Andresen K, Berg KCG, Lothe RA, Jeanmougin M, Lind GE (2018)A robust internal control for high-precision DNA methylation

analyses by droplet digital PCR Clin Epigenetics, 10, 24

Pinto D, Pinto C, Guerra J, Pinheiro M, Santos R, Vedeld HM, Yohannes Z, Peixoto A, Santos C, Pinto P, Lopes P, Lothe R, Lind GE, Henrique R, Teixeira MR (2018) **Contribution of MLH1 constitutional** methylation for Lynch syndrome diagnosis in patients with tumor MLH1 downregulation Cancer Med, 7 (2), 433-444

Sideratou Z, Agathokleous M, Theodos-

siou TA. Tsiourvas D (2018) Functionalized Hyperbranched Polyethylenimines as Thermosensitive **Drug Delivery Nanocarriers with Controlled Transition Temperatures** Biomacromolecules, 19 (2), 315-328

Sioud M (2018)

T-cell cross-reactivity may explain the large variation in how cancer patients respond to checkpoint inhibitors Scand J Immunol, 87 (3)

Tahiri A. Aure MR. Kristensen VN (2018) MicroRNA Networks in Breast Cancer Cells Methods Mol Biol. 1711. 55-81

Våtsveen TK, Myhre MR, Steen CB, Wälchli S, Lingjærde OC, Bai B, Dillard P, Theodossiou TA, Holien T, Sundan A, Inderberg EM, Smeland EB, Myklebust JH. Oksvold MP (2018) Artesunate shows potent anti-tumor activity in B-cell lymphoma J Hematol Oncol, 11 (1), 23

Zuber V, Jönsson EG, Frei O, Witoelar A, Thompson WK, Schork AJ, Bettella F, Wang Y. Diurovic S. Smeland OB. Dieset I. Fanous AH, Desikan RS, Küry S, Bézieau S, Dale AM. Mills IG. Andreassen OA (2018) Identification of shared genetic variants between schizophrenia and lung cancer Sci Rep, 8 (1), 674

IN PRESS

Björklund AT, Carlsten M, Sohlberg E, Liu LL, Clancy T, Karimi M, Cooley S, Miller JS, Klimkowska M, Schaffer M, Watz E, Wikstrom KI, Blomberg P, Wahlin BE, Palma M, Hansson L, Ljungman P, Hellström-Lindberg E, Ljunggren HG, Malmberg KJ (2018) **Complete Remission with Reduction** of High-risk Clones following Haploidentical NK Cell Therapy against

MDS and AML

Clin Cancer Res (in press)

Brudvik KW, Jones RP, Giuliante F, Shindoh J,Passot G,Chung MH,Song J,Li L,**Dagenborg VJ**, Fretland ÅA, Røsok B, De Rose AM, Ardito F, Edwin B, Panettieri E, Larocca LM.Yamashita S.Conrad C.Aloia TA.Poston GJ,Bjørnbeth BA,Vauthey JN(2017)

RAS Mutation Clinical Risk Score to Predict Survival After Resection of Colorectal Liver Metastases Ann Surg(in press)

Danielsen HE, Hveem TS, Domingo E, Pradhan M,Kleppe A,Syvertsen RA,Kostolomov I,Nesheim JA,Askautrud HA,Nesbakken A.Lothe RA, Svindland A, Shepherd N,Novelli M,Johnstone E,Tomlinson I,Kerr R.Kerr DJ(2017)

Prognostic markers for colorectal cancer; estimating ploidy and stroma Ann Oncol(in press)

Hurem S, Gomes T, Brede DA, Mayer I, Lobert VH, Mutoloki S, Gutzkow KB, Teien HC, Oughton D, Aleström P, Lyche JL (2018)

Gamma irradiation during gametogenesis in young adult zebrafish causes persistent genotoxicity and adverse reproductive effects Ecotoxicol Environ Saf, 154, 19-26 (in

press)

Hølmebakk T, Hompland I, Bjerkehagen B, Stoldt S, Bruland ØS, Hall KS, Boye K (2018) **Recurrence-Free Survival After Re**section of Gastric Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors Classified According to a Strict Definition of Tumor **Rupture: A Population-Based Study** Ann Surg Oncol (in press)

Kostas M, Haugsten EM, Zhen Y, Sorensen V, Szybowska P, Fiorito E, Lorenz S. de Souza GA. Wiedlocha A. Wesche J (2018) The phosphatase PTPRG controls FGFR1 activity and influences sensitivity to FGFR kinase inhibitors Mol Cell Proteomics (in press)

Kumar S, Jain A, Farzam F, Jia J, Gu Y. Choi SW. Mudd MH. Claude-Taupin A. Wester MJ, Lidke KA, Rusten TE, Deretic V (2018)

Mechanism of Stx17 recruitment to autophagosomes via IRGM and mammalian Atg8 proteins J Cell Biol (in press)

Lønning PE, Berge EO, **Bjørnslett M**, Minsaas L, Chrisanthar R, Høberg-Vetti H, Dulary C, Busato F, Bjørneklett S, Eriksen C, Kopperud R, Axcrona U, Davidson B, Bjørge L, Evans DG, Howell A, Salvesen HB, Janszky I, Hveem K, Romundstad PR, Vatten LJ, Tost J, Dørum A, Knappskog S (2018)

White Blood Cell BRCA1 Promoter cer Risk Ann Intern Med (in press)

Mezheyeuski A, Bergsland CH, Backman M,Djureinovic D,Sjöblom T,Bruun J,Micke P(2017)

Multispectral imaging for quantitative and compartment-specific immune infiltrates reveals distinct immune profiles that classify lung cancer patients J Pathol(in press)

Møller P, Seppälä TT, Bernstein I, Holinski-Feder E,Sala P,Gareth Evans D.Lindblom A.Macrae F.Blanco I.Siimons RH, Jeffries J, Vasen HFA, Burn J, Nakken **S**, **Hovig E**, Rødland EA, Tharmaratnam K, de Vos Tot Nederveen Cappel WH, Hill J,Wijnen JT,Jenkins MA,Green K,Lalloo F,Sunde L,Mints Met al.(2017) Cancer risk and survival in path_MMR carriers by gene and gender up to 75 years of age: a report from the Prospective Lynch Syndrome Database Gut(in press)

Oei VYS, Siernicka M, Graczyk-Jarzynka A, Hoel HJ, Yang W, Palacios D, Almasbak H, Bajor M, Clement D, Brandt L, Onfelt B, Goodridge J, Winiarska M, Zagozdzon R, Olweus J, Kyte JA, Malmberg KJ (2018) Intrinsic Functional Potential of NK-Cell Subsets Constrains Retargeting **Driven by Chimeric Antigen Recep**tors

Cancer Immunol Res (in press)

Oltedal S, Kørner H, Aasprong OG, Hussain I, Tjensvoll K, Smaaland R, Søreide JA, Søreide K, Lothe RA, Heikkilä R, Gilje B, Nordgård O (2018) The Prognostic Relevance of Sentinel Lymph Node Metastases Assessed by PHGR1 mRNA Quantification in Stage I to III Colon Cancer Transl Oncol, 11 (2), 436-443 (in press)

Shin D, Christie C, Ju D, Nair RK, Molina S,Berg K,Krasieva TB,Madsen SJ,Hirschberg H(2017) Photochemical Internalization Enhanced Macrophage Delivered Chemotherapy Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther(in press)

Spasojevic M, Mariathasan AB, Goscinski M, Thorgersen EB, Solbakken AM, Gullestad HP, Ryder T, Flatmark K, Larsen SG

Methylation Status and Ovarian Can-

(2018)

Vertical Rectus Abdominis Musculocutaneous Flap Repair Improves Perineal Wound Healing after Abdominoperineal Resection for Irradiated Locally Advanced Rectal Cancer Ann Surg Oncol (in press)

Schwab C, Gabrysch A, Taskén K, Neth O, Grimbacher B. et. al The clinical spectrum and treatment options in 130 individuals with CTLA-4 haploinsufficiency. J. Allergy Clin. Immunol. (in press)

Taylor-King JP, Baratchart E, Dhawan A, Coker EA, Rye IH, Russnes H, Chapman SJ, Basanta D, Marusyk A (2018) Simulated ablation for detection of cells impacting paracrine signalling in histology analysis Math Med Biol (in press)

Vedeld HM,Goel A,Lind GE(2017) Epigenetic biomarkers in gastrointestinal cancers: The current state and clinical perspectives Semin Cancer Biol(in press)



Oslo University Hospital The Norwegian Radium Hospital Institute for Cancer Research

Ullernchausseen 70 N–0379 Oslo Norway

P.O. BOX 4953 Nydalen N–0424 Oslo Norway

http://ous-research.no/institute/